FIRST MOSCOW STATE MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF THE MINISTRY OF HEALTH OF THE RUSSIAN FEDERATION (SECHENOV UNIVERSITY)

On the rights of the manuscript

Anastasia Yurievna Mikhaleva

Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on myocardial function and levels of oxidative stress markers in rats with type I diabetes mellitus

Scientific speciality 3.3.3. Pathological physiology

Thesis

for the degree of candidate of medical sciences

Research Supervisor:

Doctor of Medical Sciences, Professor Sergey Brankovich Bolevich

Moscow-2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	. 4
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	14
1.1. Diabetes mellitus	14
1.1.1. Etiology and epidemiology of diabetes mellitus	14
1.1.2. Cardiovascular complications in diabetes mellitus	16
1.1.3. Treatment of diabetes mellitus	18
1.2. Hyperbaric oxygenation	20
1.2.1. History of hyperbaric oxygenation application	20
1.2.2. Definition and physiological principles of hyperbaric oxygenation	21
1.2.3. Indications for the use of hyperbaric oxygenation	23
1.2.4. Contraindications to the use of hyperbaric oxygenation	25
1.2.5. Side effects of hyperbaric oxygenation	26
1.3. Hyperbaric oxygenation and the cardiovascular system	28
1.4. Hyperbaric oxygenation and diabetes mellitus	32
CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH	38
2.1. Materials and Methods	38
2.2. Monitoring cardiac function ex vivo	46
2.3. Statistical analysis	46
CHAPTER 3. RESULTS OF THE STUDY	47
3.1. Blood glucose levels in experimental animals under modeling of type 1 diabet mellitus treated with insulin, hyperbaric oxygenation, and their combination	tes 47
3.2. Determination of oxidative stress marker levels	48
3.2.1. Determination of superoxide anion radical levels	48
3.2.2. Determination of hydrogen peroxide levels	49
3.2.3. Determination of lipid peroxidation index	51
3.2.4. Determination of nitric oxide levels	53
3.3. Study of coronary circulation and cardiodynamic parameters of the heart in experimental animals	56
3.3.1. Determination of maximum left ventricular pressure rise rate in male rats in the experiment	56

3.3.2. Determination of the minimum left ventricular pressure rise rate in experimental animals	1 57
3.3.3. Determination of systolic left ventricular pressure in experimental animals unde modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction	er 59
3.3.4. Determination of diastolic left ventricular pressure in experimental animals under modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction	er 61
3.3.5. Determination of heart rate in experimental animals with diabetes mellitus and different types of glycemic correction	63
3.3.6. Determination of circulating blood volume through myocardial blood vessels in experimental animals under modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction	64
3.4. Study of the dynamics of changes in biomarkers of oxidative stress in peripheral blood in rats with diabetes mellitus	65
CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED	71
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION	76
INFERENCES	82
ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	83
REFERENCES	85

INTRODUCTION

Relevance of the research topic and the degree of its development

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a group of heterogeneous diseases based on absolute or relative insulin deficiency. The most important are types 1 and 2 diabetes. Insulin-dependent type 1 diabetes (10-15% of the total number of patients) is caused by absolute insulin deficiency due to destruction of pancreatic β -cells. The disease usually develops by an autoimmune mechanism. The more common insulin-resistant type 2 DM is characterized by relative insulin deficiency caused by decreased tissue sensitivity to insulin or impaired insulin transport to them. Destruction of β -cells is not characteristic.

The main complications of chronic disturbance of metabolic processes in the body in DM are the development of diseases characterized by progressive dysfunction of all cellular structures, especially in vascular walls, heart, kidneys, visual organs, and nerves [30, 35, 87, 126].

DM affects more than 400 million people. This disease causes 1.6 million deaths per year [7]. The main target organs are the heart, kidneys, eyes, nerves, blood vessels, and brain [35, 87, 126], which can cause coma, macro-, microangiopathy, nephro-, neuro-, and ophthalmopathy, and other complications. The most frequent complication of DM is heart failure developing in 50% of patients, which leads to mortality in the first year after diagnosis in 30-40% of patients, and after 5 years this figure increases to 40-60% [7, 65, 131, 167].

Hyperbaric oxygenation (HBO) is a promising and obviously auxiliary method of diabetes treatment [11]. The impact of HBO on the clinical course of diabetes, especially type 1, is still poorly understood. The corresponding molecular mechanisms are even worse known. Meanwhile, it has been established that HBO improves recovery in such associated ischemic conditions as cerebral ischemia, combined ischemic and reperfusion injury, central retinal artery occlusion, peripheral arterial disease, diabetic foot gangrene and other vascular complications [11, 15, 16, 79, 142, 170, 171, 174, 176, 178]. HBO is able to reduce blood glucose concentration in type 2

DM patients by at least 20% [62, 118, 141, 178]. It also reduces the levels of HbA1c (a marker of inflammation), C-reactive protein and insulin resistance [62, 141]. It is assumed that one of the mechanisms of these effects is the attenuation of adipose tissue hypoxia and associated inflammatory reactions.

HBO improves microcirculation, enhances angiogenesis, activates antioxidant defense, stimulates fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis, leads to suppression of inflammatory processes, has antiatherogenic effect [78, 115]. HBO increases cell survival under hypoxia by improving mitochondrial respiration, inhibits apoptosis in pancreatic β -cells, disrupts leukocyte adhesion to the vascular wall, enhances their bactericidal action, and reduces the severity of endothelial dysfunction, which contributes to the subsidence of inflammation and reduces the development of associated vascular complications in patients suffering from DM [11, 168, 185].

The predictor of malignant arrhythmias in patients with type 1 and type 2 DM is the syndrome of prolonged QT interval. Daily HBO sessions for two weeks led to a decrease in prolonged QT interval [150]. The effect of HBO on diastolic myocardial function of patients with diabetes mellitus was studied by Aparci M. et al (2008). After 10 sessions of HBO the parameters of diastolic function according to Doppler-echocardiography improved. At the same time systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and echocardiographic parameters of the left ventricles did not change significantly. HBO also improved the relaxation capacity of the left ventricle and the dynamics of right ventricular filling [104]. It is assumed that HBO imitates ischemic preconditioning of myocardium with a corresponding decrease in the intensity of inflammatory reactions and oxidative stress.

Russian scientists have concluded that multiple courses of HBO are the most effective in patients with type 1 DM: the need for medicinal insulin is reduced, residual insulin secretion is restored, glucagon and hydrocortisone synthesis is suppressed. Three courses of HBO therapy administered to patients with type 1 DM with an interval of 4 months are more effective than two courses with an interval of 6 months; in this case, of the three procedures, the maximum effect is achieved during the second course. The same pattern is reproduced in type 2 DM [18, 19].

Intermittent HBO therapy enhances vascular relaxation induced by acetylcholine in rats with type 1 diabetes. The effect is realized through NO-signaling pathway without changes in oxidative stress indicators [109].

HBO in patients with type 1 DM can reduce the blood concentration of oxidative stress markers [18, 19, 101, 104, 109], which is one of the main factors damaging tissues [41]. At the same time, prolonged exposure to HBO can exacerbate oxidative stress and aggravate the aggressiveness of the disease course. Despite this, to date, there are no comprehensive studies that could evaluate the positive and toxic effects of HBO [5].

Purpose of the study

To reveal the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation, insulin therapy and their combined application on the indices of oxidative stress and pumping function of the heart, in experimental type 1 diabetes mellitus.

Research Objectives

1. To compare the hyperglycemic effect of oxygenobarotherapy, insulin therapy and their combined application in rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus;

2. to study the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation, insulin therapy and their combined effect on cardiodynamic parameters of isolated rat heart with type 1 diabetes mellitus;

3. To reveal the peculiarities of the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation, insulin therapy and their combined application on oxidative stress indicators (prooxidant markers) of the isolated rat heart with type 1 diabetes mellitus;

4. To reveal the peculiarities of the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation, insulin therapy, and their combined application on the indicators of oxidative stress (markers of prooxidants and antioxidants) in the blood of rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus;

5. Find potential molecular mechanisms of hyperbaric oxygenation action on blood glucose levels and cardiac performance in rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus.

Scientific novelty of the study

• A favorable and therapeutically effective effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on cardiodynamic parameters and myocardial contractility in rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus was shown for the first time.

• The positive effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on changes in coronary circulation in rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus was reported for the first time.

• It was revealed for the first time that hyperbaric oxygenation reduces in myocardial tissue of animals with type 1 diabetes mellitus the content of prooxidant factors: superoxide anion radical and hydrogen peroxide, initiating the process of lipoperoxidation, the products of which have a significant cytotoxic effect. This means that hyperbaric oxygenation has a significant antioxidant cardioprotective effect.

• For the first time it was registered that the use of hyperbaric oxygenation provided an increase in the efficiency of antioxidant enzymes (superoxide dismutase, catalase and glutathione peroxidase). This allows us to recommend hyperbaric oxygenation to reduce the degree of cardiac alteration in type 1 diabetes mellitus.

• The therapeutic effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on the heart in rats with type 1 diabetes mellitus through the pharmacokinetic action of oxygen, oxygen-dependent response of myocytes (mitochondria) and homeostatic effect on the function of other organs was substantiated for the first time.

Theoretical and practical significance of the work

Functional indices of cardiac activity in type 1 diabetes mellitus improve after therapeutic HBO exposure. The molecular mechanisms of this effect are associated with activation of antioxidant system components and attenuation of oxidative stress. The combination of insulin therapy with HBO sessions causes an additive effect on the reduction of oxidative stress in type 1 DM, which may have clinical significance. The results of the study should be taken into account when using hyperbaric oxygenation as an adjuvant method of treatment of diabetes mellitus. The actual data of the dissertation research and theoretical conclusions made on their basis are included in teaching materials (lectures, classes, etc.) and are used in teaching students, training residents, postgraduates and trainees at the Departments of Pathological Physiology of the Institute of Digital Biodesign and Modeling of Living Systems, as well as at the Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Kragujevac (Serbia).

Research methodology and methods

To study the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on myocardial function and levels of markers of oxidative stress in rats with type I diabetes mellitus induced by streptozotocin injection, 24 healthy male Wistar albino rats aged 8 weeks with body weight of 200-250 g were used.

The experimental animals were divided into 4 groups of 6 animals each: those receiving insulin therapy, HBO treatment, combined treatment (insulin therapy together with HBO) and control group (untreated).

To monitor glycemia levels, experimental animals with type 1 diabetes mellitus were first subcutaneously injected with 5 units/day of exogenous long-acting recombinant human DNA insulin. To maintain normoglycemia (60 to 150 mg/dL), insulin therapy was given for 24 hours and then adjusted for each animal according to its glycemic level on average every 3 days (3 to 5 U/d).

HBO therapy protocol: experimental rats were exposed to 100% oxygen at 2.8 ATM once a day for 1 hour 5 days a week for 2 weeks.

Before withdrawal of the study animals from the experiment, they were injected with ketamine and xylazine, followed by decapitation using a guillotine for small experimental animals, immediately after which whole blood samples were taken and spectrophotometric determination of oxidative stress biomarkers and monitoring of cardiac function *ex vivo* using a Langendorff apparatus were performed.

The provisions of the prescribed acts (EU Directive for the Protection of the Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and other Scientific Purposes 86/609 / EES) and the principles of ethics were observed in the experimental work.

Statistical processing of the obtained results was performed using the statistical package IBMSPSS version 26.0.

Main scientific results

Insulin monotherapy of experimental rats with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus is accompanied by an increase in both pro-oxidants and antioxidants [11]. Quantitative changes in oxidative stress biomarkers showed that the levels of superoxide anion radical, hydrogen peroxide, malonic dialdehyde, nitric oxide in treatment groups 2, 3, 4 tend to decrease in comparison with group 1 of animals with diabetes mellitus. The most noticeable statistically significant decrease was observed in groups 3 and 4, where treatment was carried out with DM+INS+HBO and DM+HBO, respectively [5]. HBO promotes restoration of the initial activity of lipid peroxidation by changing the levels of the studied pro-oxidants (mainly due to their decrease) and increasing the levels of antioxidants (due to their increase), which agrees with the data of professional literature [5, 11]. HBO monotherapy reduces the content of superoxide anion radical and hydrogen peroxide, has no effect on the level of malonic dialdehyde and reduces the level of nitrogen dioxide, while activation of superoxide dismutase and catalase is observed, while the level of reduced glutathione is preserved [5].

In terms of diabetes compensation, repeated courses of HBO for a year reduce insulin consumption, restore residual insulin secretion, and inhibit the release of such counterinsular hormones as glucagon, somatotropic hormone and hydrocortisone. It is more effective to give patients with insulin-dependent diabetes three courses of HBO with an interval of four months than two courses with an interval of six months; however, with the three-course methodology, the maximum favorable effect of HBO on the hormonal-metabolic status is achieved only during the second course, and the third course only enhances the already achieved effect. Combined treatment with HBO and

exogenous DNA recombinant long-acting human insulin demonstrated not only a favorable effect on coronary oxidative status, but also a positive effect on cardiodynamics of the isolated rat heart. Systolic left ventricular pressure and the value of the maximum derivative of pressure over time are two cardiodynamic parameters characterising systolic function, and the parameters of the value of the minimum derivative of pressure over time and diastolic left ventricular pressure are related to diastolic function of the heart; all four of these cardiodynamic parameters as well as coronary blood flow improved in the group of rats receiving combined treatment (DM+INS+HBO) [71].

Author's personal contribution

The author is a key figure who participated in the choice of the research direction, formulation of its goal and objectives, as well as in the analysis and generalization of the obtained factual data. He was also involved in the preparation of the review of domestic and foreign literature on the research topic.

In the thesis, the author describes the laboratory research conducted, how the analysis and statistical processing of the obtained data was performed, summarizes, formulates and scientifically substantiates the results, provides conclusions emphasizing the theoretical and practical significance of the work and recommendations based on its results. Moreover, he was engaged in the preparation of scientific publications and reports, as well as their implementation in practice.

Provisions for defense

1. therapeutic HBO sessions improve indices of cardiac pumping function in experimental type 1 diabetes mellitus. This effect may be comparable with a similar effect of insulin therapy.

2. The combined use of insulin therapy and HBO most effectively improves cardiac functional parameters compared to each type of therapy separately.

3. therapeutic sessions of HBO, as well as insulin therapy can reduce excessively high activity of prooxidants, characteristic of type 1 diabetes mellitus. When HBO and insulin therapy are used together, an additive effect is possible.

4. Molecular mechanisms of improvement of functional cardiologic indices after sessions of HBO, insulin therapy and their combined application are associated with activation of antioxidant system with a corresponding decrease in the activity of prooxidants.

Compliance of the thesis with the passport of scientific specialty

Scientific provisions of the thesis correspond to the passport of specialty 3.3.3. - pathological physiology. The results of the conducted research correspond to the area of research of the specialty, specifically points 1 and 4 of the passport of the specialty.

Degree of reliability and approbation of the results of the thesis

The validity of the results of the thesis study was based on a representative sample of 24 rats divided into 4 groups of 6 individuals each. Statistical processing and comparative analysis of the collected data were performed as follows: 1) absolute values, their percentages, sample mean values, median and standard deviation, ranking and 95% confidence intervals were used to describe individual parameters; 2) Kolmogorov, Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests were used to test the normality of distribution; 3) Student's t-test, paired t-test, Mann-Whitney test, Fisher's absolute probability test, and one- or two-factor analysis of variance were used to detect differences between the indicators. The Bonferroni test was used to test the significance of the difference between the parameters in the case of several subgroups. To assess the normality of distribution, Kruskal Wallis and Tukey post hoctest were used to compare percentage changes between groups. Differences at the level of p < 0.05 were considered significant. Statistical processing of the obtained results was performed using the statistical package IBMSPSS version 26.0.

The primary documentation of the dissertation was verified by the commission established by the order of the Vice-Rector for Research of FGAOU VO I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University of the Ministry of Health of Russia (Sechenov University), Associate Professor D.V. Butnaru, order of November 17, 2020, No. 270.

The materials of the thesis are used in the work of the Institute and the Department of Physiology of the Faculty of Medical Sciences of the University of Kragujevac (Serbia), the Department of Human Pathology of the I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University of the Ministry of Health of Russia (Sechenov University), as well as in the educational process at classes and lectures of the Department of Human Pathology and the Department of Pathophysiology of Sechenov University.

Approbation of the study results took place at a joint scientific and methodological conference of the staff of the Department of Pathological Physiology of the Institute of Digital Biodesign and Modeling of Complex Systems and the Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medical Sciences, University of Kragujevac, Serbia, which was held on November 26, 2020.

Publications on the subject of the thesis

On the subject of the dissertation 5 printed works were published, including:

- Scientific articles reflecting the main results of the thesis - 2 articles, of which:

- in publications from the University List/List of VAK under the Ministry of Education and Science - 1 article, in journals included in international databases: Scopus - 1 article;

- Review articles - 1 (in editions from the University List/List of VAK under the Ministry of Education and Science);

- Other publications include 2 abstracts.

Scope and structure of the thesis

The dissertation is outlined on _106_ pages of typewritten text, consists of introduction, literature review, description of materials and methods of research, research results and their discussion, conclusion. The list of literature contains _186_ sources, including _20_ domestic and _166_ foreign authors. The work is illustrated with _13_ figures and contains _3_ tables.

CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Diabetes mellitus

1.1.1. Etiology and epidemiology of diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) belongs to a group of heterogeneous diseases characterized by impaired carbohydrate metabolism, resulting in impaired tissue utilization of glucose, which causes an increase in its concentration in the blood. The main complications of chronic disturbance of metabolic processes in the body in DM are the development of diseases characterized by progressive dysfunction of all cellular structures, especially in vascular walls, heart, kidneys, visual organs and nerves [30, 87, 126]. According to the World Health Organization, 422 million people worldwide suffer from diabetes mellitus. Diabetes mellitus is directly responsible for 1.6 million deaths each year [7]. Statistics from the International Diabetes Federation are even more disappointing: as of 2021, there were 537 million patients with verified DM [120]. In addition to this, a huge number of patients have prediabetes. In the United States, for example, approximately 86.1 million adults are diagnosed with prediabetes. These data indicate a continuous global increase in the number of patients and prevalence of diabetes over the past several decades. Due to the fact that the complications of diabetes lead to damage to virtually all tissues in the body, it remains the leading cause of high mortality from cardiovascular disease (CVD), kidney failure, as well as disability of patients due to frequent infection of any wounds and circulatory failure, which provokes the need for amputation and complete loss of vision. In addition, early diagnosis of type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2 or insulin-independent diabetes mellitus) in adolescents and young adults (under 40 years of age) is associated with a more aggressive form of the disease, as well as premature development of severe complications. This progressive increase in the prevalence of DM, especially DM2, is due to several reasons: aging of the population, sedentary lifestyle, poorly controlled glucose levels, smoking, and an increase in the number of obese patients. Obesity stands out as the most important risk

factor for the development of DM2, the level of which has increased significantly over the last few decades. However, it is known that this form of diabetes, in addition to obesity, is accompanied by impaired insulin secretion due to dysfunction of β - cells of the pancreas, which provokes the development of diabetes.

Impaired insulin secretion in DM may have different etiologies. According to the new guidelines, diabetes can be divided into several general categories:

1) Type 1 diabetes mellitus (DM1 or insulin-dependent diabetes), which is based on autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cells, which usually ends in the development of absolute insulin deficiency.

2) Type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM2 or insulin-independent diabetes) is characterized by impaired insulin secretion by β - cells, and is often accompanied by insulin resistance.

3) Gestational DM (first diagnosed during pregnancy in the second or third trimester, but not verified before pregnancy).

4) Specific types of DM of different etiologies, such as monogenic forms of diabetes (neonatal and juvenile diabetes, diseases of the exocrine part of the pancreas (e.g., cystic fibrosis or pancreatitis) and diabetes induced by drugs or chemicals (e.g., glucocorticoids, treatment of HIV infection or after organ transplantation) [30]. [30].

The clinical presentation and course of disease in DM1 and DM2 can be very different, demonstrating the heterogeneity of the disease itself. Adequate classification is crucial for determining therapy, but there are cases in which the disease cannot be clearly classified as DM1 or DM2 at diagnosis. Recently, the traditional view that DM1 is more common in children and DM2 in adults is not entirely accurate, given that both types of disease occur in different age groups [30]. In pediatric patients with DM1, symptoms such as polyuria and polydipsia are not uncommon, and in 1/3 of cases, diabetic ketoacidosis is an early complication of the disease [117]. At the same time, in adult patients at the debut of DM1, the symptomatology may present different manifestations: classical symptoms may be absent and even a temporary remission of the disease may develop [117, 182]. Therefore, the classification of DM is periodically reviewed and modified, because the variability of symptoms may lead to

misinterpretation of the type of diabetes and, accordingly, the establishment of an incorrect diagnosis leads to ineffective treatment. In all types of diabetes, the cause of hyperglycemia is the progressive death of pancreatic β -cells and / or impairment of their function, which occurs under the influence of various factors, both genetic and environmental factors. Therefore, patients with different types of DM often have the same chronic complications; the only difference may be in the rate of their progression [49].

Considering all these facts and the statistical data published to date, it is vital to identify the main causes of the development of DM and its complications in order to better and more effectively develop therapeutic intervention strategies for this disease.

1.1.2. Cardiovascular complications in diabetes mellitus

The fatal consequences of diabetes are the development of small blood vessel damage (microangiopathies), such as diabetic retinopathy, neuropathy, nephropathy; and macroangiopathies, as a result of which pathological changes affect large blood vessels. Macrovascular complications represent an aggressive course of atherosclerotic processes that significantly increase the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and gangrene of the foot (diabetic foot) [125].

As long-term studies by various specialized specialists have shown, heart failure occurs in 50% of all comorbidities in patients with diabetes. It is undeniable that patients with heart failure and diabetes have a worse prognosis and lower survival rate than those without it. Long-term clinical studies have revealed that about 30-40% of such patients die in the 1st year after diagnosis, and after 5 years this figure rises to 40-60%, which is usually caused by the occurrence of ventricular arrhythmias and refractory heart failure [65, 131]. The Chronic Heart Failure (CHF) classification - NYHA (New York Heart Association classification of CHF severity) provides useful prognostic information for each individual patient. According to the NYHA classification, the annual mortality rate is 30-70% in patients with stage IV, 5-10% in patients with stage II [28]. Interestingly, in people with a combination of DM and heart

failure, ejection fraction can be either preserved or reduced in an equal number of cases [169]. There is a direct relationship between the degree of metabolic disturbance in diabetes and the progression of CHF, so its development often begins already at the prediabetes stage. Therefore, the basic therapy of patients with diabetes and heart failure should include drugs to correct hyperglycemia and heart failure simultaneously. Treatment regimens for patients with heart failure and DM, blockade of RAAS (renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system), cardioselective blockade of β -adrenoreceptors, blockade of mineralocorticoid receptors, are the same as in patients without DM, although clinical results are not as favorable. The new angiotensin/neprilysin receptor inhibitors are thought to have a better effect on outcomes occurring in patients with DM and heart failure than without the former [37].

Arterial hypertension goes hand in hand with DM2. Thus, in patients with diabetes it occurs 2 times more often than without it. It has been recorded that patients with arterial hypertension are more likely to have insulin resistance than people with normal blood pressure, which makes them more likely to develop diabetes. CVDs complicated by the development of hypertension remain the leading cause of morbidity and high mortality in patients with DM. In the genesis of both diabetes and hypertension are traced common risk factors: the formation of endothelial dysfunction, the presence of inflammatory processes in the vascular wall, aggravated by arterial remodeling, the development of atherosclerosis, dyslipidemia and obesity. The same is traced at the stage of manifestation of cardiovascular complications in these nosologies [11, 125]. The most probable reason for such coincidences may be the unity of mechanisms of RAAS activation, oxidative stress, immune system, and inflammation development, which strengthens the link between DM and hypertension. Vascular mechanisms such as oxidative stress, inflammation, immune system activation, and microRNAs are found in both diseases. Thus, the vascular damage and endothelial dysfunction that forms in both DM and arterial hypertension exacerbate each other's effects [11, 140]. Therefore, the administration of hypoglycemic drugs and their effects are considered as an clinical factor influencing blood pressure stabilization important [11, 125]. Thiazolidinediones, which are PPAR-y (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor

gamma) agonists, have neutral or slightly positive effects on blood pressure [11, 43]. At this stage, there is no clear understanding of the following questions: what is the effect of drug correction of glycemic levels on the incidence of CVDs and what is the probability of a positive effect of adverse and adverse cardiovascular reactions that develop while taking hypoglycemic drugs on the benefit/risk ratio in the development of CVDs [84, 132]?

1.1.3. Diabetes mellitus treatment

Treatment of DM starts with changing the patient's habits and lifestyle, as most often its development is caused by poor nutrition of patients, and it is recommended to control body weight with increasing physical activity according to the general condition [7, 31, 120]. Next, the issue of treatment with medications is decided. At the stage of pharmacotherapy, the prescription of drugs should be gradual, taking into account individual reactivity, the effectiveness of glycemia correction, additional potential benefits, dosing regimen and economic feasibility of using certain drugs [7, 120, 83].

Since absolute insulin deficiency is observed in DM1, the leading method of its correction is insulin administration [7, 11, 83, 119, 120, 185]. If in DM2 oral hypoglycemic drugs are not able to normalize blood glucose and HbA1c (glycated hemoglobin or glycohemoglobin (A1c)) levels, both insulin monotherapy and combined with oral hypoglycemic agents' administration are possible [11]. Insulin therapy is most often started with the administration of basal insulin with a single daily dose of 0.1-0.2 J/kg body weight. In patients with higher episodes of hyperglycemia (HbA1c >9.0%), in addition to basal insulin, biphasic or prandial insulin can be administered before meals in single individual doses depending on the daily glycemic profile [45].

Metformin is the most prescribed and safe antidiabetic drug among the oral hypoglycemic agents of the biguanide group. It is used in obese and overweight people. Metformin is still the drug of choice for monotherapy because it increases tissue sensitivity to insulin, promotes glucose entry into peripheral tissue cells, and suppresses gluconeogenesis in the liver [129]. Metformin can promote weight loss and has been shown in some studies to reduce serum levels of triglycerides, cholesterol, and low-

density lipoprotein (LDL) [54]. After a certain time, metformin becomes an insufficiently effective pharmacologic agent in the processes of glycoregulation. All optional oral pharmacologic agents in combination with an optimal dose of metformin have approximately the same therapeutic effect, reducing HbA1c values by about 0.8-2.2% on average, but with different consequences for changes in body weight and susceptibility to hypoglycemic states [45, 155]. The combination of dual therapy with metformin and sulfonylurea derivatives is one of the most common. Together they contribute to more effective metabolic control and decrease HbA1c by 0.8-1.5%. Sulfonylurea derivatives enhance endogenous insulin secretion by pancreatic β -cells, but they have no long-term protective effect on β -cell function and may accelerate β -cell depletion and death [166].

Thiazolidinediones are peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ activators, which improves insulin sensitivity in adipocytes, cardiac muscle, and liver [63]. In insulin resistance in DM2 patients, the use of thiazolidinediones produces a persistent effect for up to 5 years [24]. A common side effect is weight gain. However, the greater the weight gain, the greater the reduction in HbA1c levels, as well as the restoration of β cell function and insulin sensitivity [179]. The combination of metformin and one of the drugs from the group of thiazolidinediones leads to a significant decrease in HbA1c, an increase in the level of tissue sensitivity to insulin and, thus, leads to an improvement in the secretory role of pancreatic β -cells [159].

Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors (DPP-4 or glyptins) act by inhibiting the enzyme of the same name. Inhibition of this enzyme is responsible for delaying the inactivation of incretin hormones such as glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and gastroinhibitory peptide (GIP), which are involved in the physiological regulation of glucose homeostasis [163]. GLP-1 and GLP-2 induce pancreatic β -cells to synthesize insulin, and GLP-1 in isolation has the effect of reducing glucagon secretion by pancreatic α -cells [139]. These effects combine to improve glycemic control in people with DM2.

The use of GLP-1 analogs is mainly an incretin-based therapy. This leads to an increase in insulin secretion in a glucose-dependent manner, decreases glucagon secretion, and ultimately suppresses glucose production in the liver [55]. Persistent

reduction in HbA1c can be observed for up to three years. Although GLP-1 analogs are not as well tolerated by patients as DPP4 inhibitors, they lead to a better reduction in HbA1c levels and promote weight loss [165].

1.2. HYPERBARIC OXYGENATION

1.2.1. History of hyperbaric oxygenation application

The history of hyperbaric medicine dates to 1662, when British physician Nathaniel Henshaw built the first barobaric chamber. Unlike modern barochambers, the first chambers used compressed air instead of pure oxygen, as it was believed that oxygen had a toxic effect [82].

Oxygen was first discovered in 1775 by the English scientist John Priestley, and today this discovery is the basis for the use of hyperbaric therapy. In 1789, Lavoisier and Seguin reported the toxic effects of concentrated oxygen, thereby calling into question the use of oxygen in hyperbaric medicine. In 1878, Paul Burt more accurately described the toxic effects of oxygen on the central nervous system, manifested as seizures. Despite the view that excess oxygen is toxic, in 1887 Arnzenius analyzed the literature and recorded about 300 articles on the application of hyperbaric oxygenation. Thus, he showed that interest in the application of hyperbaric oxygenation (HBO) was expressed to a rather significant extent [86, 121, 122].

Several historic barocameras have been built during this time. The first barocamera in North America was created in 1860 in Canada. And the first chamber in the United States appeared in 1861 in New York City. The most famous and widely used barocamera in the USA was equipped for Cunningham in 1921, and by 1925 it became the only operating chamber in the world [52].

In the former Yugoslavia, the first barocamera was installed in 1933, but due to numerous technical problems it was never put into operation. At the UNA Navy Institute of Naval Medicine (Split, Croatia), a large recompression chamber for the regular use of hyperbaric oxygen for clinical purposes became operational in 1969 [186].

The heyday of hyperbaric medicine dates to 1937: Benhke and Shaw first documented the success of treatment of decompression sickness with hyperbaric oxygen [67, 153]. Today, HBO is actively used in the treatment of many diseases, for example, in carbon monoxide poisoning, for the treatment of various infections, repair of injuries, including in patients with DM. The achievements of hyperbaric medicine are steadily growing, which expands the indications for the use of HBO [11, 162].

1.2.2. Definition and physiological principles of HBO

Hyperbaric oxygenation refers to therapeutic and diagnostic methods characterized by the creation of specialized conditions for the patient that allow inhalation of 100% pure oxygen at a pressure higher than atmospheric pressure. In practice, atmospheric pressure of more than 1.5 absolute atmospheres (ATM) (152 kPa) is usually used for therapeutic purposes. The following standard HBO prescription schemes are used: a person is under atmospheric pressure of 2.0-2.8 ATM (203-284 kPa) for 60-120 minutes once or twice a day. This allows reducing the risk of side effects from HBO while maximizing the therapeutic effect [11, 31, 38].

The effect of HBO on the body is related to gas laws and physiological and biochemical effects of hyperoxia itself [11, 102, 114]. The statement of Boyle's law, constant temperature, pressure, and gas volume are inversely proportional. This is the basis for many aspects of hyperbaric therapy, including a small increase in chamber temperature. During treatment, a phenomenon known as "squeezing" develops, arising because blocked eustachian tubes prevent the equalization of gas pressure, and this results in a painful gas compression response in the middle ear. Dalton's law expresses that in a mixed gas, each element exerts a pressure proportional to its fraction of the total volume (partial pressure) [183].

The effects of HBO are also based on Henry's Law: the amount of gas dissolved in a liquid or tissue is proportional to the partial pressure of that gas in contact with the

liquid or tissue. Henry's law can be applied to body fluids and oxygen: the degree of physically dissolved gas in body fluids is directly proportional to the partial pressure of oxygen to which that fluid is exposed. It follows that in proportion to the increase in the amount of oxygen to which the patient is exposed, the amount of dissolved gas increases, i.e. the oxygen content of the body fluids increases. In this case, the access of oxygen to tissues increases significantly, and it can diffuse from blood plasma, reaching ischemic tissues and each of their cells, regardless of the degree of pathological processes in the walls of blood vessels [8, 46, 183].

Oxygen delivery from the blood to cells is carried out in two ways: the first one consists in its transport in connection with hemoglobin in erythrocytes, the second one in the dissolved state in plasma. The effect of HBO is due to the displacement of gas bubbles from the plasma and an increase in the partial pressure of oxygen in the alveoli. This process leads to an increase in the volume of dissolved oxygen delivered by blood, which allows to increase its saturation of ischemic tissues. Thus, the increase in indices reflecting the amount of oxygen transported with blood contributes to the maintenance of cellular respiration and the possibility of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) formation in ischemic/hypoxic tissue [11]. It is proved that the main effects of HBO are related to its mechanical effect on tissues due to increased pressure and changes in the level of functioning of physiological systems of the organism [11, 90].

The biochemical aspect of HBO application is explained by activation of the mechanism responsible for the controlled formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and nitrogen species [11, 21, 29, 59, 76, 127, 160, 180, 181]. This results in an increase in the number of various growth factors and their receptors, activation of stem cells/bone marrow progenitor cells, functional changes in the effects of integrin (neutrophil adhesion is reduced) and chemokines synthesized by monocytes, as well as hemoxygenase-1, heat shock proteins and hypoxia-inducible factor 1-alpha (HIF-1), which leads to the subsidence of inflammatory processes [11].

Thus, HBO contributes to the leveling of negative consequences of pathological processes in which inflammation and ischemia take the lead, which is observed, for example, in chronic wounds [76, 162,183] (Figure 1).



Figure 1 - Biochemical basis of hyperbaric oxygenation

1.2.3. Indications for the use of hyperbaric oxygenation

Originally, hyperbaric therapy was developed to treat decompression sickness and the side effects of diving. Today, however, the benefits of HBO allow it to be used as a primary or adjunctive treatment for many internal diseases and surgical conditions. Since the 1960s, the list of indications for HBO has been expanding. According to the 2016 data of the Undersea and Hyperbaric Medical Society (UHMS), the following diseases and syndromes with different etiopathogenesis are indications for the use of HBO [11, 76]:

- the toxic effects of carbon monoxide;
- anemia;
- gas embolism;
- decompression sickness;

- to improve wound repair (in diabetic foot, diabetic retinopathy, nephropathy);

- intracranial abscess;

- osteomyelitis;

- necrotic soft tissue infections;

- gas gangrene;

- chronic radiation lesions;

- severe multiple traumas with ischemia;

-burn;

- skin graft transplantation [11].

The use of HBO in acute air embolism and decompression sickness is that compressed oxygen bubbles, which occur at elevated atmospheric pressure, displace emboli with nitrogen and equalize the pressure gradient between the lungs and the bloodstream, facilitating embolus utilization. In addition, HBO can benefit a variety of conditions, including those mentioned on the list above, through a similar underlying mechanism. For decades, the mechanism of action of HBO has been aimed at leveling developing or evolved tissue hypoxia by increasing physically dissolved oxygen in blood plasma. It is known that an increase in atmospheric pressure with inhalation of 100% oxygen leads to an increase in the amount of oxygen dissolved in plasma. For example, a study published in 1960 by Boerem et al. showed that unanesthetized pigs with 0.5% circulating hemoglobin could live because of a significant amount of dissolved oxygen in plasma when hyperbaric conditions were created.

The application of oxygen more than the physiologic norm can cause various both therapeutic and toxic effects [11, 64, 97, 98, 107, 148, 178]. Potential therapeutic effects include hydrostatic pressure effects accompanied by elimination of inert gases from tissues, pharmacological effects due to increased oxygen pressure in arterial blood, and improvement of oxygen saturation of ischemic tissues with different degrees of functional impairment [11, 38].

Positive results from the use of HBO compared to absorption of atmospheric oxygen are due to a higher efficiency of oxygen penetration through the alveolar barrier, which leads to a higher concentration of oxygen dissolved in the blood and an increased distance for its delivery. These properties make it possible to retain aerobic metabolism in various parts of the body even in tissues with hypoperfusion [11, 177].

The basis for the development of HBO treatment protocols is the essence of the main pathological processes causing the development of the disease. For example, in the presence of diabetic wounds, HBO application is carried out at a pressure of 2.0-2.4 ATM for 30-40 days [63]. In case of strokes, it is recommended to carry out HBO treatment for 2 months with a regime of 5 days a week and pressure of 2 ATM [96, 105].

1.2.4. Contraindications to the use of hyperbaric oxygenation

The only absolute contraindication for the use of HBO in the treatment of patients is untreated pneumothorax. If in the patient's history there is evidence of treatment due to the development of pneumothorax, considering all the indications, it is necessary to make an assessment between the risks and possible benefits obtained by using HBO [80].

Relative contraindications to the use of HBO include:

- Untreated arterial hypertension;
- Diabetes mellitus (with glycemic levels greater than 300 mg% or less than 100 mg%);
- Congestive heart failure with ejection fraction less than 35%;
- Claustrophobia;
- Acute upper respiratory tract infection;
- Presence of fever;
- Presence of a pacemaker;
- Recently undergone ophthalmic surgery;
- Recently performed thoracic surgery;
- Presence of chronic obstructive bronchitis or asthma;
- Constant use of contact lenses [11, 80].

1.2.5. Side effects of hyperbaric oxygenation

HBO is the safest among all treatment modalities for DM [61, 108]. Nevertheless, there are side effects associated with the use of HBO that are self-limiting and potentially preventable with adequate risk assessment. The most common side effects of HBO are barotrauma to the middle ear and sinuses, increased systolic and diastolic blood pressure, claustrophobia, and the development of hypoglycemic reactions in patients with DM [108, 118]. Toxic effects of oxygen during HBO application are manifested by symptoms of central nervous system dysfunction, development of arterial gas embolism or pulmonary barotrauma [88, 148, 151, 161]. Adherence to clinical treatment recommendations when using HBO under conditions of atmospheric pressure maintenance at the level of 2-3 ATM rarely provokes their occurrence [108].

Side effects caused by exposure increased atmospheric pressure and/or increased oxygen concentration led to excessive formation of ROS in organs and tissues. HBO application at pressures of 2026-3039 hPa increases the risk of cataract and myopia formation [11, 23, 80, 95, 106, 138]. Some authors, exposing guinea pigs to hyperbaric oxygen at a pressure of 2534 hPa for 2-2.5 h twice a week for a total of up to 100 sessions, recorded the development of cataracts in experimental animals. It was also shown that HBO depletes the pool of reduced glutathione in the lens nucleus, provokes oxidative changes in nuclear proteins, nuclear light scattering and myopic shift of lens power, which resembles the course of pathological processes preceding the formation of cataract in humans [11, 23]. HBO has an opposite effect on lens geometry and gradient refractive index compared to similar effects recorded after ouabain-induced inhibition of the microcirculatory system. In contrast to the ouabain-induced shifts in the indices of lens geometry and increase in the gradient refractive index and myopic shift, HBO does not lead to a significant transformation of lens geometry, although it significantly reduces the gradient refractive index, causing a decrease in lens power and the development of a hyperopic shift in the general optics of the bovine lens [11, 95].

Similarly, myopia and cataracts have been diagnosed in people after exposure to 100% oxygen at a pressure of 2026-2534 hPa for 90 minutes once a day for 150-850

sessions [138]. These pathologies rarely develop when 48 sessions of HBO at a pressure of 2534 hPa for 90 minutes are applied [81].

HBO promotes an increase in the number of inflammatory cells in mice [11, 77, 181] and leads to excessive production of ROS in rats [11, 72, 136, 147, 183], rabbits [11, 175], and humans [11, 42, 107]. Excessive ROS production is a key in the mechanisms of formation of many diseases and their complications. Intensification of oxidative stress and increased free radical levels trigger pathological mechanisms responsible for the development of atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, arterial hypertension, diabetes, cataracts, retinopathy, renal failure, and uremia [11, 39, 85, 89, 128, 130, 157].

During therapy with 40% oxygen and more, regardless of atmospheric pressure parameters, multiple side effects caused by damage of erythrocytes by formed ROS and decrease in the amount of oxyhemoglobin are registered in rats [137]. The mild effect of HBO, observed at oxygen content up to 35-40%, does not cause aggressive course of oxidative stress in humans [73] and rats [56].

When HBO is used to treat chronic coronary heart disease, a potential undesirable effect may be the development of pulmonary edema. Weaver and Churchill in their study recorded 3 cases of pulmonary edema after HBO treatment. All three patients were elderly and had foot or chest wounds. In addition to the primary indications, the patients were also diagnosed with heart disease and low ejection fraction. Therefore, the authors suggest to try to refrain from using HBO in the treatment of patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction [184].

In a study conducted by Canarslan-Demir K. et al. who studied the cardiovascular effects of HBO treatment in patients suffering from DM, according to ECG data at the end of hyperbaric oxygenation session a statistically significant increase in QTc and QTc dispersion (p<0,001 and p = 0.02, respectively) and an increase in troponin I level, while the dynamics of Pro-BNP level did not show statistical reliability (p = 0.009, p = 0.3, respectively) [11, 34]. Thus, the authors concluded that in patients with DM, HBO treatment with short courses has a statistically significant effect on troponin I, QT and QTc indices, therefore, monitoring of the corresponding parameters is necessary in the group of such patients when using HBO [34].

In one of the scientific publications there was a report on the development of acute pulmonary edema in an 80-year-old patient with ischemic cardiomyopathy (with an ejection fraction of 25%), insulin-independent diabetes mellitus and peripheral vascular disease after HBO. Heart failure was not documented in the patient prior to HBO sessions. The authors of the publication believe that the risk factor for the development of acute pulmonary edema caused by HBO exposure was the total high sensitivity of the patient's tissues to hypoxia [11, 26].

There is also a paper describing a case of HBO-induced pulmonary edema in a patient diagnosed with moderate diastolic dysfunction with normal ejection fraction [11]. In this example, the assumed mechanism of HBO-induced pulmonary edema formation is an increase in cardiac afterload, increased left ventricular filling pressure, increased myocardial oxidative stress, increased pulmonary capillary permeability or pulmonary oxygen toxicity. Based on the above, the authors recommend using HBO with caution in patients with low ejection fraction or diastolic dysfunction [147].

To reduce the risk of pulmonary edema associated with the use of HBO, profile specialists suggest individualizing the mode and dosage of HBO sessions.

1.3. Hyperbaric oxygenation and the cardiovascular system

Among all the most important chronic diseases as well as causes of sudden death, CVDs occupy the most important place [68, 135]. They account for 45% of all deaths in Europe. Each year, CVDs cause more than 4 million deaths in Europe and about 1.8 million deaths in the European Union [68]. The term CVD is used to refer to conditions affecting the heart and/or blood vessels but can also be associated with arterial damage in the heart as well as in the brain, kidneys and eyes [135]. The main pathologies responsible for the development of CVD include atherosclerosis, arterial hypertension, coronary artery disease and CVD [11].

Even though at this stage there is a huge range of drugs available for the treatment of these diseases, the long-term prognosis and control of complications remain at a rather low level. Considering the rapid population growth, the contingent of patients receiving inadequate therapy is increasing, which is a strong incentive for the creation of new, more effective methods of treatment and prevention of CVD development [11, 164].

Among the therapeutic methods of treatment, HBO is more often beginning to be used as a universal treatment. To ensure the effectiveness and safety of HBO treatment, the correct dosage plays a vital role [154].

It has been shown that HBO application in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease after 12-15 sessions significantly reduces and even stops the occurrence of angina pectoris, alleviates symptoms of heart failure, and significantly improves myocardial contractility [9, 17, 20]. Also, continuous HBO treatment of 31 patients with paroxysmal tachycardias in ischemic heart disease significantly reduced the frequency and duration of paroxysms with subsequent long-term remission [10]. The use of HBO has a significant effect on reducing the number of extrasystoles, as well as on improving myocardial contractility in patients with chronic ischemic heart disease [13, 20].

Two randomized trials studied the oxygen effect of HBO in patients with myocardial infarction receiving thrombolysis. Contradictory results were obtained. In one study, which was conducted on 74 patients with first-time acute myocardial infarction, it was recorded that additional HBO after thrombolysis in acute myocardial infarction has a favorable effect on left ventricular systolic function and remodeling process. In patients who received combined treatment with streptokinase and HBO, a 20% decrease in end-systolic volume and a 10% improvement in cardiac output were observed. In the same group, a significant increase in ejection fraction was demonstrated, while in the group of patients receiving streptokinase alone, a decrease in ejection fraction was observed three weeks after myocardial infarction [27]. With another study HOT (Hypertension Optimal Treatment study), which included 112 patients, it was shown that the use of HBO leads to shorter periods of pain relief, a slight increase in ejection fraction without a significant decrease in the level of creatine phosphokinase. However, oxygen therapy also did not affect the diastolic function of the left ventrice [94].

Leitman et al (2020) conducted a prospective study to evaluate the effect of HBO on echocardiographic parameters in asymptomatic patients. To study the effect on cardiac function, HBO treatment was applied for 90 minutes for a total of 60 days. The study recorded an improvement in left and right ventricular systolic contractions as well as overall cardiac function. Because repeat echocardiography was performed 3 weeks after the last hyperbaric oxygen therapy session, these significant changes represent potentially sustained structural and functional changes rather than immediate temporary changes [173].

A clinical study by Yogaratnam et al. (2010) showed that preconditioning of patients with ischemic heart disease using HBO before cardiac surgery improved ejection fraction and reduced myocardial damage [97]. The results of the study by Zhdanov and Sokolov also indicate the beneficial effect of HBO in combination with conventional therapy of myocardial infarction. Their combined treatment effectively eliminated hypoxia and improved myocardial contractile function, as well as its pumping function [14].

Animal studies have also shown the benefits of HBO use. In the study conducted on the model of rats with induced myocardial infarction, HBO administration caused a decrease in the infarct size and an increase in the survival rate of rats [32, 111]. Higher values of total antioxidant response and 3-nitrotyrosine in the zone of tissue damage of the left heart sections in rats on HBO indicate higher production of nitrogen monoxide (NO), which contributes to better recovery in the ischemia zone and better vascularization [53].

Positive effects of HBO were also observed in the doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity model in rats. Application of 100% oxygen at a pressure of 2.5 atmospheres for 90 minutes did not enhance the toxic effects of doxorubicin. Moreover, the authors concluded that HBO treatment protects myocardial structures from doxorubicin-induced toxicity [98].

Regarding the effect of HBO therapy on ROS formation Tepic et al. (2018) concluded that HBO therapy may be safe when used in DM2 patients with and without vascular complications. They find that ten-day HBO treatment of 1 hour duration strongly mobilizes the antioxidant enzyme system and thus improves protection against oxidative damage [116].

On the other hand, during acute single exposure to HBO, superoxide production increases and, therefore, there is a temporary impairment of vasorelaxation. Intermittent HBO has no effect on superoxide production, but the expression of antioxidant enzymes increases under such exposure [25].

Oliveira et al. (2020) on the model of acute myocardial infarction studied changes in the redox system associated with HBO therapy occurring within the first hour after the development of coronary occlusion. HBO treatment for 60 minutes at a pressure of 2.5 atmospheres was shown to reduce mortality, which in turn indicates a favorable effect of HBO on survival. Since no differences in the size of myocardial infarction were observed, the authors concluded that the decrease in animal mortality could be due to a beneficial effect on the change of infarction-induced redox processes, which are important for maintaining a favorable environment for cell survival and heart rhythm [111].

Chen W. et al. (2020), who studied in rats with ligated left anterior descending artery the ways of activation of protective sanogenetic mechanisms under the influence of HBO in terms of changes in the level of mitochondrial functioning and triggering autophagy, showed how exactly hyperbaric oxygen has a positive effect on heart function: there is a decrease in the level of oxygen stress, modulation of energy metabolism and inhibition of cell apoptosis. The authors also showed how HBO application prevents cardiomyocyte damage in the simultaneous coexistence of ischemic and reperfusion processes in the altered myocardium: by increasing the levels of ATP, ADP, energy charge and opening the mitochondrial permeability transition pore, mitochondrial dysfunction is prevented, autophagy is inhibited, and gene or protein expression levels of eIF4E-binding protein 1 are increased, target of rapamycin (mTOR), mitochondrial DNA, NADH dehydrogenase subunit 1, mitofusin 1 and mitofusin 2, decreased levels of AMP, gene or protein expression of autophagy 5 (Atg5), dynamin-related protein 1 and p53, cytochrome c and reactive oxygen species [99].

Oliveira et al. conducted an additional study on rats to investigate the effect of early HBO on mortality and myocardial infarction size after the formation of coronary occlusion in them, which showed mixed results. In this work, the authors recorded that HBO administration significantly reduced infarct size, but no significant change in mortality was observed. A possible explanation for the discrepancy between the results of these studies may be a difference in the protocol of HBO treatment itself [111].

1.4. Hyperbaric oxygenation and diabetes mellitus

The criteria for prescription and positive effects of HBO therapy in many pathological conditions, such as decompression sickness and DM2 in the presence of poorly regenerating wounds and ulcers, are well defined. Disturbance of oxygen balance in blood plasma occupies an important place in the pathogenesis of DM. Unfortunately, insulin administration does not always allow adequate daily maintenance of blood glucose levels within the normal range [11]. Therefore, it is desirable for patients suffering from DM to join additional methods of DM treatment, such as HBO therapy. HBO improves recovery in such concomitant DM ischemic conditions as cerebral ischemia, combined ischemic and reperfusion injury, central retinal artery occlusion, peripheral arterial disease, diabetic foot gangrene and other vascular complications [11, 61, 103, 106, 142, 178].

There is evidence of additional benefits of HBO in patients with DM, such as reducing fasting blood glucose concentration in DM2 patients by at least 20% [22, 62, 102, 118, 142]. In addition, HBO can cause a decrease in HbA1c, a marker of inflammation, C-reactive protein, and insulin resistance, as measured by the Homeostasis Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR) [142]. However, the data on the effect of HBO on the sensitivity of peripheral tissues to insulin are insufficient. It is not quite clear whether the hyperbaric oxygen-induced decrease in glycemia is a phenomenon unique to diabetics or whether it is really a physiological change that people with DM2 cannot compensate for. Thus, when studying the effect of HBO therapy on the change of tissue tolerance to insulin in male patients aged 40-80 years, suffering from DM2 and obesity or without them, with verified diabetic ulcers, osteoradionecrosis, and radiation proctitis, an improvement of peripheral tissue

sensitivity to insulin was revealed, which came already after 3 sessions and persisted up to the 30th [11, 185]. It should be noted that insulin therapy was carried out in all patients, and three of them were additionally prescribed oral hypoglycemic drugs. During HBO-therapy oxygen delivery is under increased pressure and in high concentration, at the same time an increase in tissue sensitivity to insulin is registered, which can be caused by the effect of either one of these factors or their combination. Under the action of HBO, the increase of oxygen delivery with blood to tissues is amplified 10 times. This suggests that one of the ways to realize the effect of HBO on increasing tissue sensitivity to insulin may be a decrease in the severity of hypoxia in adipose tissue and the following inflammation. It has also been shown how hypoxia in adipose develops overstress in the endoplasmic reticulum and chronic microinflammation, which leads to inhibition of the insulin signaling cascade [11, 92, 158]. In addition, some research results indicate a decrease in the level of C-reactive protein after HBO application [11, 51, 142], which can potentially be interpreted as the possibility of controlling the processes responsible for the maintenance of chronic microinflammation with HBO. Another explanation for the increase in peripheral tissue sensitivity to insulin during HBO exposure may be the increased expression of PPAR- 1α , which is the main regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis, which was demonstrated in one of the studies conducted on rats [57]. Recent studies [93, 123] confirmed the beneficial effect of HBO on tissue sensitivity to insulin and at the same time laid the foundation for possibly new potential mechanisms of this effect. They proved that in mice with streptozotocin-induced DM2 after HBO treatment (1 h/day, 7 days, at 2.0 ATM) the activation of Akt signaling pathway, the expression of GLUT4 (glucose transporter member 4) in muscle and UCP1 (uncoupling protein 1, thermogenin) in brown adipose tissue, which subsequently leads to attenuation of insulin resistance and reduction of glycemia [93, 3].

By triggering various molecular mechanisms in the body, HBO realizes its beneficial therapeutic effect on patients with diabetes and its vascular complications. In studies by different authors, it was demonstrated how HBO positively affects the systemic hemodynamic response: microcirculation improves, angiogenesis is stimulated,

antioxidant defense is activated, fibroblast proliferation and collagen synthesis are stimulated, inflammatory processes subside, the intensity of atherosclerotic vascular damage decreases and the area of atherosclerotic plaques decreases [11]. After exposure to hyperbaric oxygen there is an increase in its partial pressure for 4-6 hours after each session. As a result, there is a restoration in mitochondria of an adequate level of biochemical reactions related to oxidative phosphorylation and an increase in the chances of cell survival under conditions of oxygen deficiency. There is also a blockade of apoptosis activation mechanisms in pancreatic β -cells and decrease of leukocyte adhesion, increase of their bactericidal action, and decrease of endothelial cell dysfunction severity. Thus, inflammatory processes subside, which is reflected in the minimization of diabetic vascular complications in patients [11, 172, 185].

NO occupies a special position in the process of carbohydrate metabolism disturbance, causing the formation of DM. In this case, the change in NO concentration during HBO therapy enhances its effectiveness in DM. The mechanism of NO synthesis realization is important. It is known that the development of vascular complications in DM is caused by activation of abnormal NO synthesis, which is one of the characteristic features of chronic hyperglycemia. The data obtained by different researchers studying changes in different ways of NO synthesis activation under the influence of HBO on DM background are too heterogeneous. For example, HBO, stimulating the formation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) leads to an increase in the accumulation of nitric oxide in wounds, triggering enhanced angiogenesis [11,40, 44, 110]. And the analysis of the results obtained in human studies indicates a decrease in nitric oxide synthesis under the influence of HBO due to the changes in the regulation of activation of inducible and neuronal nitric oxide synthases (iNOS, nNOS), reflected in the subsidence of inflammatory processes and a decrease in the progression of atherosclerotic vascular lesions [11, 36, 58, 100, 116, 133].

After confirming in healthy rats, the positive effect of HBO on the reactivity of isolated aortic rings to angiotensin-(1-7) [11, 60], a significant role of eicosatrienoic acids (EETs) in this process was revealed. The confirmation of the obtained conclusions was made after the experiment on rats with streptozotocin-induced DM1 [11, 113]:

aortic relaxation under the action of angiotensin-(1-7) (ANG-(1-7)) is registered much higher in rats with DM1 exposed to HBO than in rats of the control group (with DM1 without HBO). At the same time, no data on the pronounced effect of angiotensin II on aortic contraction under HBO were obtained. The mechanisms of the facilitated vasodilatory effect of ANG-(1-7) caused by HBO exposure, which led to such results, may be both the influence of EET (against the background of increased vascular sensitivity) and the increased expression of some isoforms of CYP enzyme (isoenzyme of cytochrome P450 family): mRNA of CYP2J3 and CYP2C11. HBO leads to the development of a pronounced, enhanced vascular response to ANG-(1-7) formation in DM1 rats. At the same time, no significant change of ANG-(1-7) concentration in serum was observed, because of which the authors concluded that after HBO application the changes in vascular reactivity are not a consequence of possible changes in blood pressure, the amount of ANG-(1-7) in blood or increase of oxidative stress level [11, 60]. Perhaps, this effect explains the positive effect of HBO in such pathological conditions as, for example, healing of chronic diabetic ulcers. The same authors, having conducted a study of angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) activity after HBO therapy, came to similar conclusions regarding ACE activity in serum: after HBO treatment in healthy rats, in contrast to rats with diabetes, there is an increase in ACE concentration [11, 124].

Many researchers pay attention to the identification of prolonged QT interval (PQTI) syndrome, recognized as one of the main factors in the development of malignant arrhythmias and lethal outcome [11, 144], which significantly worsens mortality rates in patients with diabetes. PQTI is more frequently diagnosed in patients with DM than without it [11, 75, 91]. Therefore, a clinical study was conducted to investigate the effect of HBO therapy on patients with DM1 or DM2 and QT SUI. After two years of follow-up of patients with PQTI, it was significantly shorter in patients receiving HBO compared to patients in the placebo group. This indicates a pronounced protective effect of HBO against QT interval prolongation and the resulting high risk of adverse outcomes in the diabetic patient population [74]. The mechanism for the higher prevalence of PQTI in diabetic patients is not completely clear, but potential reasons

could be a higher incidence of myocardial infarction as well as the presence of cardiac autonomic neuropathy, factors that are known to be associated with the occurrence of PQTI [47, 150, 151]. In addition, the PQTI syndrome is known to prolong during hypoglycemia [74]. Similar results were obtained by scientists [34, 101] who studied the effect of HBO on the dispersion of the QT interval (QTd) as an indicator of heterogeneity of excitability recovery, which is considered by profile specialists as a predictor of the development of malignant arrhythmias, especially in patients suffering from DM2. It was demonstrated how repeated HBO application for 2 weeks decreases QTd in patients with DM [11, 101, 150].

According to one of the new concepts of cardiac dysfunction formation in DM, it is believed that the development of diastolic myocardial dysfunction precedes systolic dysfunction, regardless of the influence of other factors, such as arterial hypertension, ischemic heart disease, etc. This significantly changes the morbidity and mortality rates of patients with DM. This significantly alters the morbidity and mortality of patients with DM. Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction is considered as one of the early predictors of unfavorable prognosis in patients with DM even though it is detected even under adequate metabolic control [11, 143, 156]. The effect of HBO on the diastolic function of the left ventricle in patients with diabetes was studied by Aparci et al. (2008). They proved that after 10 sessions of HBO the parameters of myocardial diastolic function measured by Doppler-echocardiography improved, while systolic and diastolic blood pressure, heart rate and echocardiographic parameters of the left ventricles did not change significantly. HBO therapy also resulted in improvement of left ventricular relaxation capacity and right ventricular filling dynamics [104]. It is assumed that the mechanism of such a favorable effect on the myocardium lies in the fact that HBO imitates ischemic preconditioning of the myocardium, thus leading to a decrease in inflammation and oxidative stress [32, 145].

More than 20 years ago there were observed advantages, but also certain differences in the effects of HBO therapy in DM1 and DM2. Our researchers came to the following conclusion: HBO treatment of patients with DM1 for a year with several courses gives a more pronounced positive effect manifested by reduction of insulin dose, restoration of
its residual secretion and suppression of secretion of such hormones as glucagon, growth hormone, and hydrocortisone than a single course of treatment. It was found that treatment of patients with DM1 with HBO in three courses with a periodicity of 4 months leads to a more pronounced positive effect than two courses with a break of 6 months. Interestingly, the maximum positive effect of hyperbaric oxygen on the hormonal-metabolic status occurs already at the second procedure, and the third one only enhances the achieved effect. The same modality was observed in DM2 [18, 19].

Recently, the effect of intermittent HBO therapy on acetylcholine-induced vasorelaxation in female Sprague-Dawley rats with diabetes was investigated in an isolated aortic model. Acetylcholine-induced vasorelaxation was examined *in vitro* on aortic rings, and systemic oxidative stress, plasma antioxidant capacity, and expression of various genes were evaluated to determine the possible mechanism. It is believed that HBO improves acetylcholine-induced vasorelaxation through NO-signaling pathway without affecting oxidative stress [109].

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS OF RESEARCH

2.1. Materials and methods

To study the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on myocardial function and levels of oxidative stress markers in rats with type I diabetes mellitus, 24 healthy male Wistar albino rats aged 8 weeks with a body weight of 200-250 g were used. The rats were kept in a vivarium with alternating light and dark periods every 12 hours at $+22 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C. Experimental animals received water and standard feed.

Before taking the study animals out of the experiment, they were injected with ketamine and xylazine, after which decapitation was performed using a guillotine for small experimental animals, immediately after which whole blood samples were taken. The tubes, thoroughly mixed with 3.8% sodium citrate solution, were placed in a centrifuge, and spun at room temperature 3 times for 10 minutes each at 3000 rpm [5]. To prepare hemolysate, the obtained mass was dissolved in distilled water.

The provisions of the prescribed acts (EU Directive for the Protection of the Vertebrate Animals used for Experimental and other Scientific Purposes 86/609 / EES) and the principles of ethics were observed in the experimental work.

The animals were randomly divided into 4 experimental groups:

Group 1 (control) - DM provoked by streptozotocin (STZ) administration (n=6);

Group 2 - DM+INS, in which NPH (neutral protamine Hagedorn) insulin therapy at 3-5 units/day was performed against the background of STZ-induced DM. (n=6);

Group 3 - DM+INS+HBO (in addition to similar conditions for group 2, animals were exposed to 100% oxygen at 2.8 ATM 1 h once a day for 5 days for two weeks (n=6);

Group 4 - DM+HBO (laboratory rats with STZ-induced DM were exposed to HBO according to the scheme used in Group 3) (n=6) [5].

Modeling of type 1 diabetes mellitus

Twenty-four hours before intraperitoneal injection of STZ (60 mg/kg body weight dissolved in 0.01 M sodium citrate buffer at pH=4.5) into experimental rats to model DM1, they were not fed. Verification of DM was performed using a portable glucometer that reflected blood glucose levels obtained from tail veins [5]. Confirmation of the developed DM1 in experimental animals was the excess of blood glucose over 11.1 mmol/l.

Protocol for treatment with human NPH insulin

To monitor the glycemia level, exogenous DNA recombinant *long-acting* human insulin (RNA insulin) was injected subcutaneously into experimental animals with DM1 [5, 146]. To maintain normoglycemia (60 to 150 mg/dL), insulin therapy was administered for 24 hours. The initial dose of NPH insulin, which was 5 units/day, was adjusted on average every 3 days for each animal depending on its glycemic level and ranged from 3 to 5 units/day [5].

Hyperbaric oxygenation

To expose experimental rats to hyperbaric oxygen, they were placed in a small animal barocamera in which they were exposed to 100% oxygen at 2.8 ATM once a day for 1 hour [2] (Figure 2).

Protocol: experimental animals received HBO therapy 5 days a week for 2 weeks.



Figure 2 - Special oxygenation chamber for small experimental animals.

Spectrophotometric determination of biomarkers of redox status

To study the effects of hyperbaric oxygenation on myocardial function and levels of markers of oxidative stress in rats with type I diabetes mellitus, levels of superoxide anion radical (O_{2-}) were determined in coronary venous outflow samples, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), lipid peroxidation index (LPI) measured as TBARS, nitrite (NO_{2-}), reduced glutathione (GSH), catalase (CAT), and superoxide dismutase (SOD). All biochemical analyses were performed spectrophotometrically (Shimadzu UV-1800UV-VIS spectrophotometer, Japan) [5].

Determination of the superoxide anion radical

Determination of the amount of O_{2-} in coronary venous outflow and plasma is based on the reaction of O_{2-} with Nitro Blue Tetrazolium (NBT) to form nitroformase blue. The measurement is performed at a wavelength using $L_{max} = 550$ nm [5, 48, 12].

Reagents

Reagents used to determine O^2 levels: TRIS (Tris (hydroxymethyl) aminomethane, C₄H₁₁NO₃), 37% hydrochloric acid (HCl), Na₂EDTA, nitro-tetrazolium blue chloride (NBT, C₄₀H₃₀ClN₁₀O₆), gelatin (C₁₅H₁₁N₂NaO₂).

Protocol

 $50 \ \mu$ l of sample and 950 units of "assay mixture" were added to a test tube (12x100). The "assay mixture" was a mixture of 50 mmol Tris-HCl buffer (pH=8.6), 0.1 mm EDTA, 0.1 mg/mL gelatin, and 0.1 mm NBT. Krebs-Henseleit solution was used as a control. At the beginning of the reaction, the extinction of the mixture was measured, and this was labeled as extinction E1. The extinction was then stirred with a plastic stick every 60 seconds and the extinction after stirring was recorded, and this process was repeated until two consecutive extinctions reached approximately the same value [12]. The last extinction was denoted as E2. The same procedure was carried out for the control. The concentration of released O₂-was measured.

The amount of released O_{2-} per gram of cardiac tissue was then determined using the following equation [12]:

nmol O₂₋/minute/g = $\Delta E/0.015 \times 1/0.05 \times CF/m$ heart

Determination of hydrogen peroxide

The determination of H_2O_2 is based on the oxidation of phenolic red by a hydrogen peroxide reaction catalyzed by the enzyme Horser Radish PerOxidase (HRPO) [12]. Using this method, the occurrence and release of H_2O_2 within a time interval of 5-60 minutes can be determined [138].

Reagents

The reagents used to determine H_2O_2 levels are potassium dihydrogen phosphate dihydrate (K₂HPO₄ x 2H₂O), potassium dihydrogen phosphate dihydrate (KH₂PO₄ x 2H₂O), sodium chloride (NaCl), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), D(+)-glucose monohydrate (dextrose), phenol red (C₁₉H₁₄O₅S), horseradish peroxidase (HRPO EC 1.11.1.7).

Protocol

200 µL of coronary venous outflow tract and 800 µL of freshly prepared Phenol Red Solution-PRS were added to tubes (12x100) (Phenol Red Solution-PRS). PRS was prepared by mixing 140 mmol of NaCl, 10 mmol of potassium phosphate buffer (pH =7), 5.5 mmol of D(+)-glucose, and 0.28 mmol of phenol red. Then 10 µl (1: 20) of HRPO which was prepared ex tempore was added to the samples. The samples were left at room temperature for 10 minutes, after which a pH of ≈12 was adjusted using 1M NaOH. A solution of KC instead of coronary venous outflow tract was used as a control [12].

Absorbance (A) was measured spectrophotometrically at the wavelength of maximum absorbance $L_{max} = 610$ nm, in glass civets with a volume of 1 mL. The absorbance value of the control absorbance (B) was subtracted from the absorbances obtained, giving the final absorbance (ΔA). The concentration and then the amount of H₂O₂ released in the coronary venous outflow tract was calculated based on [12]:

- 1) absorption coefficient (F)
- 2) of the sample absorber
- 3) amount of H_2O_2 released per gram of heart tissue.

Determination of lipid peroxidation index (measured as TBARS)

The lipid peroxidation index was determined indirectly by measuring the products of the reaction of lipid peroxidation with thiobarbituric acid, i.e. TBARS (Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances) levels. The spectrophotometric method is based on the determination of lipid peroxide levels based on the reaction of malonyl dialdehyde (MDA) with thiobarbituric acid (TBA) [134, 12].

Reagents

The reagents used to determine TBARS levels were 2-thiobarbituric acid (TBA), 28% trichlorosyrucetic acid (TCA), and sodium hydroxide (NaOH).

Protocol

800 µL of coronary venous outflow tract sample and 200 µL of 1% TBA in 0.05 M sodium hydroxide were placed in a test tube. The samples were incubated on a water bath for 15 minutes at 100° C followed by incubation at room temperature for 15 minutes before absorbance determination. Absorbance was measured spectrophotometrically at $\lfloor =530 \text{ nm}$. The Krebs-Henseleit solution was used as a control in an amount equivalent to the coronary venous outflow volume [12].

The amount of TBARS released per gram of cardiac tissue was calculated as follows: nmol TBARS/minute/g weight = $\Delta A/1.56 \times 1.25 \times CF/m_{heart}$

TBARS levels were expressed within μ mol, unlike other measured prooxidants whose concentrations are expressed in nmol, because the amount of TBARS is one rank higher than all other parameters [12].

Determination of nitrite

Measurement of levels of released NO_2^- in coronary venous outflow represents a suitable method to indirectly assess the functionality of the endothelial L-arginine: NO system in the coronary circulation.

Nitric oxide (NO) reacts with molecular oxygen to form nitrite (NO₂⁻) as follows: NO + $\frac{1}{2}O_2 \rightarrow NO_2$. Because equimolar amounts of nitrite are formed in this reaction, it is believed that the level of nitrite in the coronary venous outflow tract is the level of nitric oxide released. The method is based on the use of Griess reagent, which in the presence of nitrite leads to the formation of a violet-colored diazocomplex [33, 12].

Reagents

Reagents used to determine NO₂₋ levels: Sulfanilic acid (4-aminobenzulfonic acid), N-(1-naphthyl)-ethylenediamine dihydrohydrate (NEDA), ammonium chloride (NH₄Cl), borax (Na₂B₄O₇, 10h2o), 85% orthophosphoric acid (H₃PO₄), \geq =1,685 gcm⁻³; sodium nitrite (NaNO₂) [12].

Protocol

The concentration of released nitrite was determined based on a calibration curve, the construction of which was based on the extinction of samples containing a known concentration of nitrite after reaction with Griess reagent in the presence of buffer [12]. By adding 3, 6, 12 and 24 μ l of aqueous solution of 1 mmol NaNO₂ in 1 ml of KH solution, obtaining the desired nitrite concentration. The next step was to determine the standard factor (F) and divide the difference of extinction of the sample and control by the standard F:

nmol NO₂ /mL outflow = $\Delta E (E_u - E_{sp})/F$

The amount of nitrite released per gram of cardiac tissue was then determined as follows [12]:

nmol NO₂ /minute/g weight = $\Delta E/F \times CF$ (coronary flow)/m _{heart}

Determination of reduced glutathione

Determination of antioxidant defense enzyme - reduced glutathione (GSH) activity was measured in erythrocyte lysate by spectrophotometric method. This method is based on the oxidation reaction of glutathione by 5, 5-dithio-bis-6, 2-nitrobenzoic acid using the Beutler method. To determine the concentration of reduced glutathione, 200 µl of 0.1% ethylenediaminetetraacetate and 385 µl of precipitation buffer are added to 50 µl of lysed erythrocytes. The mixture thus obtained is incubated for fifteen minutes on ice followed by centrifugation at 4000 rpm for ten minutes. After centrifugation, 300 µl of the supernatant is withdrawn and 750 µl of sodium diphosphate and 100 µl of 5,5dithiobis-6,2-nitrobenzoic acid are added. The mixture thus obtained is incubated for ten minutes, after which the absorbance of the sample is measured at a wavelength of 412 Nm. The procedure for preparing the blind probe is the same as for the samples, with the same volume of distilled water being used instead of erythrocyte lysate. To determine the concentration of GSH in the samples, a calibration curve was constructed using four standards with known concentrations of glutathione [5].

Definition of catalase

Determination of antioxidant enzyme - catalase activity (CAT) was carried out according to the method of A ebi. For CAT determination, buffer, prepared lysate sample and 10 mM H_2O_2 were used. CAT activity was measured spectrophotometrically at a wavelength of 360 nm and expressed as U/mL/Hb of hemolysate [5].

Determination of superoxide dismutase

Determination of antioxidant enzyme - superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity was assessed using the epinephrine method according to Beutler. A sample of heart tissue homogenate was first mixed with carbonate buffer and then epinephrine was added to the mixture. SOD activity was measured at a wavelength of 470 nm and expressed as U/mL/Hb of hemolysate [5].

2.2. Monitoring of cardiac function ex vivo

On the day after completion of the 2-week treatment procedure after short-term anesthesia induced by ketamine/xylazine rats were killed by decapitation. The thoraxes were then opened by median thoracotomy and placed in saline cooled to +4° C after heart extraction. Then cannulas from Langendorff apparatus were attached to the hearts to ensure continuous coronary and retrograde perfusion. For continuous coronary perfusion, a pressure equal to 70 cm H₂O was generated. For retrograde perfusion, Krebs-Henseleit buffer with pH 7.4, temperature 37°C, and a balance of 95% O₂ and 5% CO₂ was used. Next, a sensor was placed in the left ventricle to continuously record heart rate (HR), systolic left ventricular pressure (SLVP), diastolic left ventricular pressure (DLVP), maximum derivative of pressure over time (dp/dt max), and minimum derivative of pressure over time (dp/dt min) 24h per day [2]. Coronary blood flow was measured by flowmetry. Thirty minutes after the start of cardiac perfusion, the hearts were stabilized. After cardiac stabilization, each group was subjected to 20-min global ischemia (in which blood flow was interrupted) followed by 30-min reperfusion. All cardiodynamic parameters and CF were monitored at 5-minute intervals during the 30minute reperfusion phase [5, 50, 71].

2.3. Statistical analysis

The results are presented in the table and graph. Methods of descriptive and analytical statistics were used depending on the distribution of data and Student's T-criterion or nonparametric criterion for related samples was applied, and in case of rank comparisons - analysis of variance and posterior criterion.

Statistical processing of the obtained results was performed using the statistical package IBMSPSS version 26.0.

In order to assess the normality of distribution, Kruskal Wallis and Tukey post hoctest tests were used to compare percentage changes between groups [5]. Differences were considered significant at p < 0.05.

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS OF THE STUDY

3.1. Blood glucose level in experimental animals under modeling of type 1 diabetes mellitus treated with insulin, hyperbaric oxygenation, and their combination

When modeling type 1 DM in experimental animals, marked hyperglycemia up to 25.6 nmol/mL was found (Figure 3).



Figure 3 - Effect of insulin, HBO, and combination of insulin and HBO on glycemic levels in DM rats before and after 2-week treatment. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. *- p < 0.05 before and after 2-week treatment.

Treatment with insulin for two weeks significantly reduced blood glucose levels (2.2-fold p<0.05). HBO application reduced blood glucose levels 1.1-fold, but p>0.05. Thus, even HBO alone resulted in a small decrease in glycemia, but without statistical significance. The combined use of insulin and HBO reduced blood glucose 1.6-fold (p <0.05). Thus, insulin does not induce normoglycemia, but significantly reduces hyperglycemia in the treatment groups (DM+INS and DM+INS+HBO).

3.2. Determination of oxidative stress marker levels

Markers of oxidative stress (O_{2-} , H_2O_2 , TBARS and NO_{2-}) were determined in coronary venous outflow tract from DM rats collected at the time of stabilization (S), then in the first minute of reperfusion after ischemia (R) [12], and then every 5 minutes during thirty minutes of reperfusion (Figure 3). These rats received insulin, HBO, and their combination.

3.2.1. Determination of superoxide anion radical level

The level of superoxide *anion-radical* (O₂₋) at the 1st minute of reperfusion compared to the moment of stabilization increased the most in rats with DM (3.0 times, p <0.05), as well as in rats with DM receiving insulin (1.6 times, p <0.05). The same index in the group receiving HBO increased 1.4-fold (p <0.05) and those receiving a combination of insulin and HBO 0.9-fold (p <0.05). Thus, at the 1st minute of reperfusion the level of superoxide anion radical in rats with DM, receiving insulin was 1.3 times higher (p < 0.05), there is also a 1.5-fold increase in the studied index (p < 0.05) than in rats with DM and subjected to HBO and HBO with insulin, respectively. The indicated changes were also found at the 30th minute of reperfusion process. In rats with DM without insulin correction and DM treated with insulin, the level of the studied index was 1.6 / 1.4 times higher. (p <0.05 and p <0.05, respectively).

Thus, the level of superoxide anion-radicals was the lowest in the group receiving the combination of HBO with insulin at almost all measurement points, both during stabilization and during reperfusion after ischemia. The greatest jump in superoxide anion radical levels was recorded at the 1st and 30th minutes of reperfusion in the DM group and the group receiving insulin. Combined treatment with insulin and HBO significantly suppressed superoxide anion radical production in the coronary venous outflow tract in DM rats, especially in the first minutes of reperfusion and to a lesser extent at the 30th minute of reperfusion after 20-minute ischemia (Figure 4).





Figure 4 - Superoxide anion radical levels in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in superoxide anion radical levels. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

3.2.2. Determination of hydrogen peroxide level

In rats with DM the level of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) was the highest during all 30 minutes of reperfusion. At the 1st minute of reperfusion compared to the moment of stabilization this index increased by 1.9 times (p <0.05). Treatment with insulin and HBO resulted in a slight decrease in hydrogen peroxide levels compared to the DM group, but without statistical significance. In DM rats treated with insulin or HBO, this index increased 1.3-fold (p>0.05) and 1.2-fold (p>0.05) at 1 minute of reperfusion compared to the time of stabilization, respectively. Simultaneously, rats with DM receiving the combination of insulin and HBO had a greater decrease in the level of hydrogen peroxide in the coronary venous outflow tract of rats during all 30 minutes of reperfusion (Figure 5).





Figure 5 - Hydrogen peroxide levels in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in hydrogen peroxide levels. *p <0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p <0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p <0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

Thus, at the 1st minute of reperfusion the level of hydrogen peroxide in rats with DM was 1.2 times higher than in rats with DM receiving insulin, 1.4 times higher (p>0.05) than in rats with DM receiving HBO (p<0.05) and 1.9 times higher than in rats with DM receiving a combination of HBO and insulin (p<0.05). This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In rats with DM the level of hydrogen peroxide was 1.7 times higher than in rats with DM receiving insulin and HBO (both p<0.05) and 2.7 times higher than in rats with DM receiving a combination of HBO receiving a combination of HBO receiving insulin (p<0.05).

Thus, at 15 minutes of experimental reperfusion of the myocardium of the heart of experimental animals, the level of hydrogen peroxide was the highest exactly in the DM group at all measurement points. Application of a combination of insulin and oxygenation decreased the production of H_2O_2 . The most pronounced decrease was found at the thirtieth minute of reperfusion recovery processes in LV myocardium of experimental animals (male rats) (Figure 5).

3.2.3. Determination of lipid peroxidation index

In experimental animals with modeling of type 1 diabetes, the lipid peroxidation index (LPI) was maximal in the thirtieth minute of the reperfusion process in the heart. When studying the studied index at the first minute of reperfusion in comparison with the moment of stabilization, this index increased 3.4 times (p <0.05). Treatment with insulin, HBO, and their combination, resulted in a significant decrease of LPI during reperfusion. At the first minute of the experiment (myocardial reperfusion), animals with type 1 diabetes model treated subcutaneously with insulin had an approximately 1.22-fold increase in LPI (p >0.05). It was also recorded during the experiment that in animals with type 1 diabetes receiving oxygenation and the combined combination (INS+HBO), in the first minute of reperfusion compared to stabilization, LPI increased 1.1-fold and 1.1-fold, respectively, p >0.05.

Drawing conclusions, when conducting the experiment with animals with experimental type 1 diabetes it was found that in the group of DM and animals with type 1 diabetes, receiving subcutaneously insulin, the studied LPI increased approximately 1.5 times, as opposed to rats with DM, with a course of oxygenation p<0.05, and 2.2 times, than in experimental animals with type 1 diabetes, receiving a combination of HBO and hormone (p<0.05). The indicated processes were reproducible and at the thirtieth minute of the experiment (Figure 6).





Figure 6 - LPI levels in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in LPI levels. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group.

When analyzing the experimental data, we found that the studied index of lipid peroxidation processes activity was the highest in the group of type 1 diabetes, with maximum growth at the twentieth minute of reperfusion process. In the course of the study, it was revealed that the maximum low values were determined in the groups of type 1 diabetes and HBO, type 1 diabetes in experimental animals with insulin and oxygenation during the last 20 minutes of reperfusion. Combined treatment with insulin and HBO and HBO alone significantly suppressed lipid free radical production in the coronary venous outflow tract in rats with DM, at almost all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion. The reduction was particularly pronounced at 30 minutes of reperfusion after 20-minute ischemia (Figure 6).

3.2.4. Determination of nitric oxide levels

In modeling of type 1 diabetes in animals, the level of the indicator determining the value of (NO.) was maximal during all 30 minutes of reperfusion process. At the first minute of reperfusion compared to the moment of stabilization the studied index increased approximately 2.4 times, p <0.05. HBO application significantly decreased (NO.) during reperfusion exposure with myocardium of the left ventricle. In rats with DM, receiving insulin at the first min of reperfusion process in comparison with the moment of stabilization the mentioned studied index increased approximately 1.3 times, p >0.05. In experimental animals with type 1 diabetes, receiving oxygenation and hormone(insulin) + HBO at the first min. of reperfusion, compared to the time of stabilization, (NO.) increased 1.1 and 1.1-fold, respectively, p >0.05.

Nitric oxide levels were 1.2 times higher in the DM group than in the DM+INS group (p > 0.05) 2.2 times higher than in the DM+HBO group (p < 0.05), and 2.2 times higher than in the DM+INS+HBO group (p < 0.05). This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. Nitric oxide levels were 1.1-fold higher in DM rats than in DM rats receiving insulin (p > 0.05), 2.1-fold higher than in DM rats receiving HBO (p < 0.05), and 2.2-fold higher than in DM rats receiving the combination of HBO and insulin (p < 0.05) (Figure 7).



Error bars: +/- 1 SE

Figure 7 - Nitric oxide levels in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in nitric oxide levels. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group.

Thus, nitric oxide levels were highest in the DM group at all measurement points, with the largest jump at 20 minutes of reperfusion. Insulin alone did not significantly reduce nitric oxide production. Experimental data indicate that the lowest values were recorded in the DM+HBO and DM+INS+HBO groups during the last 20 minutes of reperfusion. Combined treatment with insulin and HBO and HBO alone significantly suppressed nitric oxide production in the coronary venous outflow tract in DM rats, at almost all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion. The decrease was particularly pronounced at 30 minutes of reperfusion after 20-minute ischemia (Figure 7).

Table 1 presents the statistical results showing a statistically significant difference for almost all markers.

Table 1 ·	- Results	of sta	atistical	analysis	obtained	by	comparing	the v	values	of	oxidative
stress ma	rkers usi	ng AN	NOVA a	nalysis							

Indicator	Group	Р	Group	Р	Group	Р
ABOUT -2	DM	0.017	DM	0.141	DM+HBO	0.653
	DM+INS	0.001	DM+HBO	0.076	DM+INS+ HBO	0.639
$H_2 O_2$	DM	0.032	DM	0.124	DM+HBO	0.026
	DM+INS	0.009	DM+HBO	0.083	DM+INS+ HBO	0.063
IPOL	DM	0.002	DM	0.186	DM+HBO	0.005
	DM+INS	0.000	DM+HBO	0.132	DM+INS+ HBO	0.026
NO-	DM	0.000	DM	0.254	DM+HBO	0.003
	DM+INS	0.000	DM+HBO	0.225	DM+INS+ HBO	0.025
O -2	DM	0.044	DM+INS	0.629	DM+INS	0.247
	DM+INS+ HBO	0.046	DM+INS+ HBO	0.596	DM+HBO	0.242
H ₂ O ₂	DM	0.006	DM+INS	0.057	DM+INS	0.422
	DM+INS+ HBO	0.007	DM+INS+ HBO	0.134	DM+HBO	0.416
IPOL	DM	0.004	DM+INS	0.442	DM+INS	0.004
	DM+INS+ HBO	0.005	DM+INS+ HBO	0.506	DM+HBO	0.002
NO-	DM	0.006	DM+INS	0.818	DM+INS	0.000
	DM+INS+ HBO	0.008	DM+INS+ HBO	0.833	DM+HBO	0.000

Note: bold font indicates reliable difference of markers when comparing separate groups.

3.3. STUDY OF PECULIARITIES OF CORONARY CIRCULATION AND CARDIODYNAMIC PARAMETERS OF THE HEART IN EXPERIMENTAL ANIMALS

In rats with DM treated with insulin, HBO, or their combination after 20-minute ischemia followed by 30-minute reperfusion cardiodynamic parameters and coronary circulation parameters were investigated.

3.3.1. Determination of the maximum rate of pressure rise in the left ventricle in male rats in the experiment

The value of the maximum rate of left ventricular pressure rise (maximum derivative of pressure over time, dp/dt max) was the lowest in the DM group at all measurement points, both at stabilization and at reperfusion after ischemia. In DM rats, the magnitude of dp/dt max increased 1.2-fold at 1 minute of reperfusion compared with the time of stabilization (p>0.05). Treatment with insulin alone or in combination with HBO, as well as HBO alone caused an increase in the values of dp/dt max at almost all measurement points compared to the DM group. In DM rats receiving insulin, HBO, and combination of insulin and HBO at the 1st minute of reperfusion in comparison with the moment of stabilization this index increased 1.7 times (p < 0.05), 1.4 times (p<0.05) and 1.8 times (p<0.05), respectively. Thus, at the 1st minute of reperfusion, the magnitude of dp/dt max in rats with DM receiving insulin, HBO, and the combination of insulin and HBO at the 1st minute of reperfusion was 1.8-fold (p<0.05), 1.4-fold (p<0.05) and 1.9-fold (p<0.05) greater than in rats with DM. The greatest jump in the value of dp/dt max was registered at the 15th minute of reperfusion in DM+INS+HBO group in comparison with all other groups. This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In laboratory animals - rats with type 1 experimental diabetes, receiving hormonal therapy, HBO, and combination of INS+HBO at the thirtieth minute of reperfusion the value of dp/dt max increased 3.0 times, p<0.05, 2.8 times (p<0.05) and 1.5 times (p < 0.05) than in rats with DM (Figure 8).

Thus, insulin, HBO, and the combination of insulin and HBO resulted in an increase in dp/dt max in all determinations, both during stabilization and reperfusion (Figure 8).



Figure 8 - Magnitude of the maximum rate of left ventricular pressure rise (dp/dt max) in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in the magnitude of dp/dt max. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group.

3.3.2. Determination of the minimum rate of pressure rise in the left ventricle (dp/dt min) in experimental animals

The value of the minimum rate of pressure rise in the left ventricle (minimum derivative of pressure over time, dp/dt min) was the highest in the DM+INS+HBO group and statistically significantly higher compared to all other groups both at the time of stabilization and during reperfusion. In DM rats, the value of dp/dt min at the 1st minute of reperfusion compared to the time of stabilization was practically unchanged (p>0.05). Treatment with insulin alone or in combination with HBO, as well as HBO

alone caused an increase in the values of the value of dp/dt min at almost all measurement points compared to the DM group. In rats with DM treated with insulin, HBO, and combination of insulin and HBO at the first minute of reperfusion process in comparison with the point of stabilization the mentioned investigated index increased 1.6 times (p<0.05), 1.7 times (p<0.05) and approximately 1.4 times (p<0.05), respectively.

The data of experiments testify that, at the first minute of reperfusion process the value of dp/dt min in rats with experimental diabetes receiving insulin, oxygenation, and combination of insulin hormone and HBO at the first minute of reperfusion process was higher by 1.9 times (p<0.05), 1.7 times (p<0.05) and approximately 4.5 times (p<0.05), respectively, than in animals with experimental diabetes.

The maximum increase of dp/dt min value was found from the fifteenth to the twenty-fifth minute of the reperfusion process in the DM+INS+HBO group in comparison with all other studied groups of animals. The indicated positions maintained their values at the thirtieth minute of the reperfusion process as well. In rats with DM, receiving insulin, HBO, and combination of insulin and HBO at the 30th minute of reperfusion the value of dp/dt min was 1.2 times (p<0.05), 1.3 times (p<0.05) and 2.5 times (p<0.05) greater than in rats with DM (Figure 9).



Figure 9 - Magnitude of the minimum rate of left ventricular pressure rise (dp/dt min) in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in the magnitude of dp/dt min. *p<0.05 DM group vs. DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group vs. DM+HBO group; \$p<0.05 DM group vs. DM+INS+HBO group.

Thus, insulin, HBO, and the combination of insulin and HBO resulted in an increase in dp/dt min in all measurements, both during stabilization and reperfusion experiments (Figure 9).

3.3.3. Determination of systolic left ventricular pressure in experimental animals under modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction

The value of systolic left ventricular pressure (SLVP) was highest in the group receiving insulin alone and in combination with HBO and statistically significantly higher compared with the values in the group of experimental animals in the model of type 1 diabetes at the time of stabilization, and at reperfusion (Figure 10).

59



Figure 10 - Systolic left ventricular pressure in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in systolic left ventricular pressure values. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

In laboratory animals with type 1 diabetes (experimental modeling), with DM, receiving insulin and oxygenation separately the index of SLVP at the first minute of reperfusion compared to the time of stabilization practically did not change (all p>0.05). In rats with DM receiving a combination of insulin and HBO, at the first minute of reperfusion compared to the time of stabilization, the indicated value increased approximately 1.6-fold, p<0.05. Drawing conclusions, it can be noted that during the study, at the first minute of the reperfusion process, the index of SLVP in experimental animals with type 1 diabetes, receiving a combination of subcutaneous insulin and HBO, at the first minute of the reperfusion process was recorded greater by about 1.5-fold (p<0.05), 1.7-fold (p<0.05) and 1.7-fold (p<0.05), respectively, than in rats with DM and with DM treated with insulin and HBO alone. Treatment with insulin alone or in combination with HBO induced an increase in the values of SLVP magnitude at almost all measurement points compared to the DM and DM group treated with HBO.

The largest jump of the SLVP value was registered from the 15th to the 25th minute of reperfusion in the DM+INS+HBO group and from the 5th to the 10th minute in the DM+INS group in comparison with all other groups. This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In DM rats receiving insulin and the combination of insulin and HBO, at the 30th minute of reperfusion, the magnitude of SLVP was 1.3-fold (p<0.05) and 1.7-fold (p<0.05), respectively, than in DM rats receiving HBO alone (Figure 10).

Thus, HBO alone had no significant effect on the values of SLVP. Insulin administration and combination of insulin and HBO led to an increase in SLVP at all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion (Figure 10).

3.3.4. Determination of diastolic left ventricular pressure in experimental animals under modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction

Combined therapy with insulin and HBO resulted in the most significant increase in diastolic left ventricular pressure (DLVP) values compared to all other groups. In all groups, the value of DLVP at the 1st minute of reperfusion compared to the moment of stabilization was practically unchanged (all p>0.05). Thus, at the first minute of reperfusion, the value of DLVP in rats with DM receiving the combination of insulin and oxygenation was increased 1.5-fold than in laboratory animals with type 1 diabetes and diabetes treated with hypoglycemic therapy and HBO separately, all p<0.05. Administration of insulin subcutaneously in monotherapy or with HBO resulted in an increase in DLVP in almost all measurements compared with the experimental diabetes and type 1 diabetes groups with HBO (Figure 11).



Figure 11 - Diastolic left ventricular pressure in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in diastolic left ventricular pressure (DLVP) values. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

The maximum increase in the DLVP index was found from the tenth to the thirtieth minute of reperfusion in the group of DM+INS+HBO and from the 25th to the 30th minute in the group of experimental type 1 diabetes and INS compared to all other groups [4]. At the same time, HBO independently led to a significant increase in the values of DLVP in the last 10 minutes of reperfusion compared to the DM group. This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In rats with DM treated with insulin, HBO and a combination of insulin and HBO, at the 30th minute of reperfusion the values of DLVP were 1.9-fold (p<0.05), 1.8-fold (p<0.05) and 2.5-fold (p<0.05) higher, respectively, than in rats with DM (Figure 11).

Thus, administration of insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO resulted in an increase in DLVP at all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion (Figure 11).

3.3.5. Determination of heart rate in experimental animals with diabetes mellitus and different types of glycemia correction

Heart rate (HR) was the highest in the group receiving insulin alone and in combination with HBO and statistically significantly higher compared to the values in the DM group at the time of stabilization as well as during reperfusion. In all groups, HR at the 1st minute of reperfusion compared to the moment of stabilization was practically unchanged (all p>0.05). Treatment with insulin alone or in combination with HBO caused an increase in HR at almost all measurement points compared to the DM and DM group receiving HBO. The highest HR spike was registered from the 25th to the 30th minute of reperfusion in the DM+INS+HBO group and at the 30th minute in the DM+INS group compared to all other groups. This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In DM rats treated with insulin and combination of insulin and HBO, at the 30th minute of reperfusion HR was 1.5 times higher (p<0.05) than in DM rats and in DM rats treated with HBO only (Figure 12).

Thus, administration of HBO alone had no significant effect on HR. Insulin administration and combination of insulin and HBO led to an increase in HR at all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion (Figure 12).



Figure 12 - Heart rate in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in heart rate values. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

3.3.6. Determination of circulating blood volume through myocardial blood vessels in experimental animals under modeling of diabetes mellitus and different variants of glycemia correction

The DM group had the lowest blood circulation through myocardial blood vessels during all 30 minutes of reperfusion as well as during stabilization. HBO treatment resulted in a slight increase in the value of myocardial blood vessel circulation compared with the DM group, but without statistical significance, whereas insulin or its combination (DM+INS+HBO group) significantly increased myocardial blood vessel circulation during all 30 minutes of reperfusion (Figure 13). This pattern was also registered at the 30th minute of reperfusion. In rats with DM receiving insulin and the combination of insulin and HBO, at the 30th minute of reperfusion, blood circulation through myocardial blood vessels was 1.4-fold (p<0.05) and 2.5-fold (p<0.05) greater

than in rats with DM. In rats with DM receiving only HBO, this index was 1.2-fold greater than in rats with DM, but p>0.05 (Figure 13).

Thus, HBO administration alone had no significant effect on blood circulation through myocardial blood vessels. Insulin administration and combination of insulin and HBO resulted in increased blood circulation through myocardial blood vessels at all measurement points, both during stabilization and reperfusion (Figure 13).



Figure 13 - Magnitude of myocardial blood vessel circulation values in DM rats (control) and in DM rats treated with insulin, HBO, and a combination of insulin and HBO. S, stabilization; I, ischemia; R, every 5 min of reperfusion. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. An independent t-test was used to examine differences in the magnitude of myocardial blood vessel circulation value. *p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS group; # p<0.05 DM group versus DM+HBO group; \$ p<0.05 DM group versus DM+INS+HBO group.

3.4. STUDY OF DYNAMICS OF CHANGES IN BIOMARKERS OF OXIDATIVE STRESS IN PERIPHERAL BLOOD IN RATS WITH DIABETES MELLITUS

One of the indicators of oxidative stress and the course of lipid peroxidation processes is superoxide anion radical. When analyzing its activity, it was found that experimental animals with type 1 diabetes, receiving insulin, the level of this biomarker increased by 5.7% compared to the group without insulin therapy.

In the third group, where subcutaneous insulin and HBO were used, the value of this index decreased by 6.3%.

In the fourth group, when experimental diabetes was treated with hyperbaric oxygenation alone, the index of the above marker was statistically significantly decreased by about 14.7% compared to the first study group (Table 2).

When analyzing experimental data, in particular, changes in the values of the marker of lipoperoxidation process – hydrogen peroxide showed that the use of hypoglycemic therapy in the group of animals with experimental diabetes increased the level of this indicator by 26.7% compared to the group of animals without hypoglycemic therapy [5].

In the third group of experimental animals, where hypoglycemic therapy and HBO were used, the index of hydrogen peroxide increased by about 1.1%. In the fourth experimental group, when correcting type 1 diabetes in laboratory animals exclusively by hyperbaric oxygenation, the indicated index statistically significantly decreased by about 5.3% compared to the first group [5] (Table 2).

Dynamics of oxidative stress biomarker - malonic dialdehyde (by TBARS method) - showed that the use of hypoglycemic therapy in experimental animals with type 1 diabetes increased the index of the indicated marker by about 35.7% compared to the first group (without hypoglycemic insulin therapy) [5].

In the third experimental group, where hypoglycemic therapy with the hormone insulin and hyperbaric oxygen therapy was used, the index of malonic dialdehyde was reduced by about 9.4%.

In group 4, when DM was corrected by hyperbaric oxygenation alone, the level of this biomarker increased by 1.1% compared to group 1 [5] (Table 2).

Table 2 - Content of superoxide anion radical (O_{2-}), hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2), malonic dialdehyde (MDA) and nitric oxide (NO_2) in rats with diabetes without treatment and after treatment with insulin, insulin in combination with HBO, and HBO alone [5]

Research groups	O2. level nmol/mL/sec	Dynamics of O ₂ . level (%)	H2 O2 level nmol/mL/sec	Dynamics of H ₂ O ₂ level (%)	MDA level micro/mol/mL/sec	Dynamics of MDA level (%)	NO2 level nmol/mL/sec	Dynamics of NO ₂ level (%)
I. Untreated DM	3,82±0,38		5,38±0,43		1,82±0,17		4,91±0,50	
II. Treatment of DM+INS	4,04±0,38	+5,7	6,82±0,54	+26, 7	2,47±0,25 *	+35, 7	2,23±0,22 *	-54,6
III. Treatment of DM+INS+ HBO	3,58±0,38	-6,3	5,44±0,51	+1,1	1,65±0,15 #	-9,4	4,51±0,45 #	-8,2
IV. Treatment of DM+HBO	3,26±0,33 *#	-14,7	5,10±0,50* #	-5,3	1,84±0,17 #	+1,1	4,70±0,47 #	-4,3

Note: DM - diabetes mellitus, INS - insulin therapy, HBO - hyperbaric oxygenation; * - p < 0.05 compared to control group 1, # - p < 0.05 compared to insulin treatment group 2 [5].

In a series of experiments, it was found that the level of nitric oxide (NO_{2-}) in the experimental group where laboratory animals with type 1 diabetes received hypoglycemic therapy was statistically significantly reduced by about 54.6% compared to the group without hypoglycemic therapy.

In the group of experimental animals where hypoglycemic therapy in combination with hyperbaric oxygenation was used stable nitric oxide (nitrite/nitrate) decreased by 8.2% [5].

In the fourth group, HBO was used exclusively to treat type 1 experimental diabetes mellitus, and it was found that the level of stable nitric oxide indices (nitrite/nitrate) decreased by about 4.4% compared to the first group of laboratory animals [5] (Table 2).

In the study of antioxidant activity of blood in experimental animals it was found that the activity of the enzymatic link of the antioxidant system of blood, in particular SOD, showed that the use of hypoglycemic therapy in the group of animals with experimental type 1 diabetes, the activity of the above enzyme increased by 12.2% compared to the group of animals without hypoglycemic treatment [5].

In the third group, where hypoglycemic therapy combined with hyperbaric oxygen therapy was used, SOD increased by 50.2%.

In the fourth group of laboratory animals, in which only hyperbaric oxygenation therapy was used to normalize glycemia parameters, the index of antioxidant enzyme activity statistically significantly increased by about 61.4% compared to the first group of animals (Table 3).

In our study, we found that the activity of another representative of the antioxidant system of the blood - catalase, when the hormone insulin correction of glycemia level in experimental animals with type 1 diabetes, the activity of this enzyme increased by 22.2% compared to the first group without hypoglycemic treatment with insulin.

In the third group of laboratory animals, where hypoglycemic therapy with shortacting insulin and hyperoxygenation was applied, the index of catalase activity statistically significantly increased by about 108.3%.

In the fourth group of experimental animals at correction of type 1 diabetes in male rats exclusively by hyperbaric oxygenation in monotherapy mode, the index of catalase activity statistically significantly and significantly increased by 115.2% in comparison with the first group of laboratory animals [5] (Table 3).

Table 3 - Activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and reduced glutathione (GSH) in diabetic rats without treatment and after treatment with insulin, insulin in combination with HBO, and HBO alone [5]

Research groups	SOD activity U/mL/Hb of hemolysate	SOD activity dynamics (%)	CAT activity U/mL/Hb of hemolysate	CAT activity dynamics(%)	GSH activity U/mL/Hb of hemolysate	GSH activity dynamics (%)
I. Untreated DM	19,44±1,20		2,88±0,25		16497,5±1550,0	
II. Treatment of DM+INS	21,82±2,17	+12,2	3,52±0,38	+22,2	18090,1±1700,2	+9,6
III. Treatment of DM+INS+H BO	29,20±2,53 *#	+50,2	6,00±0,30 *	+108,3	30387,7±2965,3 *#	+84,2
IV. Treatment of DM+HBO	31,34±2,0* #	+61,2	6,20±0,32 *#	+115,2	14120,9±1270,5 #	-14,4

Note: DM - diabetes mellitus, INS - insulin therapy, HBO - hyperbaric oxygenation; * - p < 0.05 compared to control group 1, # - p < 0.05 compared to insulin treatment group 2 [5].

The next stage of our study was to investigate the activity of one of the main representatives of the antioxidant system of blood - reduced glutathione (GSH). When analyzing laboratory data, we found that the use of insulin in type 1 experimental diabetes in the 2nd group of animals increased the level of activity of this enzyme by 9.6% compared to the first group without hypoglycemic therapy [5].

In the third group of laboratory animals, where a combination of insulin therapy and HBO was used, the index of glutathione activity increased statistically significantly by 84.2% [5].

In the fourth group of laboratory animals at correction of glycemia level in experimental animals with type 1 diabetes by hyperbaric oxygenation only, the index of reduced glutathione activity decreased by 14.4% in comparison with the first group of male laboratory rats [5] (Table 3).

Thus, it was found that receiving only HBO therapy in rats with DM resulted in a decrease in blood parameters that are biomarkers of oxidative stress and an increase in the activity of antioxidant enzymes, reflecting the onset of antioxidant effects.

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION OF THE RESULTS OBTAINED

characterized by the development of acute (coma) DM and chronic is (micro/macrovascular) complications [125, 166]. Although numerous studies have examined and compared the roles of various components that contribute to vascular complications in DM, accurately assessing their influence remains a challenge [63]. Nevertheless, several studies have shown that both microvascular and macrovascular outcomes are mainly or partially dependent on the level and constancy of hyperglycemia and its diurnal fluctuations [24]. Vascular damage caused by hyperglycemia involves at least four major pathways: increased polyol activity, which causes accumulation of sorbitol and fructose; increased formation of glycation end products; activation of protein kinase C and nuclear factor kB; and increased hexosamine levels. There are many reasons indicating that hyperglycemia causes all these metabolic disturbances through one single pathway: because the mitochondrial electron transfer chain produces too much superoxide anion radical. This theory, proposed by Brownlee [41], seems to show that oxidative stress induced by hyperglycemia plays an important role in the pathogenesis of DM. Chronic (low intensity) inflammation also has a significant impact on the development of DM. The presence of inflammation triggers the production of reactive oxygen species by tissues or immune cells in various peripheral tissues, including adipose tissue (especially on the anterior abdominal wall), atherosclerotic plaques with vascular endothelium, liver (due to triglyceride accumulation), intestine, etc., and other tissues. Active oxygen species bind to certain subunits of the insulin receptor, affecting postreceptor signaling pathways, preventing the body from properly responding to insulin levels [159].

A valid experimental model of DM1 in experimental animals (rats) is the use of STZ. To gain a full understanding of the role of HBO and glycemic control in myocardial physiology and pathophysiology, ex vivo myocardial function was monitored using a Langendorff apparatus in rats with type DM1 through the function of the left ventricle, which is morphologically and functionally the more dominant cardiac cavity. In addition, the Langendorff apparatus was infrared damaged and cardiac function was

monitored during the reperfusion period. Thus, HBO was investigated as a potential preconditioning agent. Enhancement of fibroblast replication, increased collagen production, and neovascularization of ischemic tissues are the most significant benefits of HBO in ischemia-reperfusion injury. It is proved that HBO increases the oxygen level in arterial blood. The increase of tissue-cell diffusion gradient increases oxygen supply to cells, and moderate hyperoxia enhances angiogenesis by increasing the formation of necessary collagen matrix for angiogenesis [44, 176]. To evaluate the above changes in coronary venous outflow tract of isolated rat heart, oxidative stress parameters were measured. In this model, a significant increase in the level of TBAR, which is a marker of lipid peroxidation, was recorded, indicating the existence of oxidative stress [5, 15, 46, 56]. From a series of experiments, we have shown that combined treatment with insulin and HBO leads to a significant decrease in TBAR production in coronary venous outflow tract. As a by-product of lipid peroxidation, MDA is sometimes considered as a sign of oxidative stress. The findings of some authors [5, 73] that HBO administration before ischemia improved renal blood flow by reducing radical oxygen peroxidation of membrane lipids are consistent with our results. However, there are data that contradict our findings. For example, in [165], although MDA levels did not reach a statistically significant level, they were higher in the groups receiving HBO than in the other groups. In this study, elevated MDA levels were considered as a marker of oxidative damage, which was hypothesized to be caused by increased cellular oxygen levels because of HBO administration. A balance between oxidative and antioxidant systems can be achieved by increasing antioxidant levels in the same groups, which may reduce pro-oxidative damage. It was also demonstrated that 30 min after HBO with 30% oxygen pressure at 1.3 ATM in dogs, glutathione peroxidase activity in erythrocytes was increased. Nuclear erythroid-related factor 2 (Nrf2), a redox-sensitive transcription factor, is thought to play a key role in cellular defense against oxidative stress by upregulating the transcription of antioxidant stress proteins such as glutathione peroxidase and phase II defense enzymes [1, 6, 66]. Oxidative stress-related changes in the mRNA and protein expression of antioxidant enzymes such as CAT and copper and zinc SOD were found in the liver tissues of rats
with STZ-induced DM [66]. These results support the assumption that the pathological processes leading to the realization of DM are based on an enhanced course of oxidative stress [87, 91, 148, 157]. In the current study, we have shown that 2-week treatment with insulin alone or in combination with HBO causes a decrease in the production of oxidative stress markers in rat coronary venous outflow tracts, which were collected after 20-min global ischemia (in which blood flow was interrupted), and during 30-min reperfusion [5, 15, 70, 71]. These results are consistent with a study that investigated the effects of HBO in people with DM, where it was demonstrated that HBO had no pro-oxidant effect [69]. The antioxidant enzyme system also seems to be actively involved in this process, enhancing the defense against oxidative damage [52].

Several groups of researchers [170,171,174] have demonstrated how in human endothelial cells HBO leads to an increase in the expression of antioxidant genes, which contributes to the activation of protective mechanisms against oxidative damage of ischemic tissues by reducing the production of ROS. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that 7 daily HBO sessions can reduce the expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1 alpha in hypoxia-induced hypoxia in ischemic rat wound tissues, consequently reducing apoptosis. In addition, these data showed that fewer neutrophils were found at the wound injury site after a course of HBO, indicating a reduction in inflammation.

A series of experiments indicate that the expression of molecular chaperones is upregulated in microvascular endothelial cells in response to HBO. Although the exact role of these chaperones in endothelial cells is still unknown, our functional studies suggest that they may help protect cells from the damaging effects of oxidative stress. Nrf-2 has been identified as a key mechanism of oxidative stress response that is controlled by HBO in terms of endothelial cell protection. More than 200 genes involved in defense and antioxidant activity are regulated by this pathway. Numerous Nrf-2 target genes can be activated upon exposure to HBO, and it is likely that these genes help protect endothelial cells from oxidative stress. Nrf-2 may control metallothioneins, which respond best to HBO. The hemoxygenase gene is one of the interesting genes regulated by Nrf-2 that is activated by HBO [21, 29, 42, 79]. Regarding DM compensation, repeated courses of HBO for a year reduce insulin consumption, restore residual insulin secretion, and suppress the production of counterinsular hormones such as glucagon, adrenaline, and glucocorticoids. For patients with type 1 DM and patients with type 2 DM receiving insulin, it is more effective to prescribe 3 courses of HBO with an interval of 4 months than 2 courses with an interval of 6 months; however, with three-course treatment, the maximum positive effect of HBO on hormonal and metabolic status is achieved only during the 2nd course, and the 3rd course only enhances the already achieved effect [18, 19]. Combined treatment with HBO and insulin demonstrated not only a favorable effect on coronary oxidative status, but also a positive effect on cardiodynamics of the isolated rat heart. SLVF and dp/dt max are two cardiodynamic parameters that describe systolic function, whereas the parameters dp/dt min and DLVP are related to diastolic function of the heart. All four mentioned cardiodynamic parameters as well as coronary blood flow were improved in the group of rats receiving combined treatment (DM+INS+HBO), which is consistent with the results of similar studies [18, 19].

The study of such peripheral blood parameters as O_2 ., H_2O_2 , PLI and NO_2 ., reflecting the level and dynamics of changes in the development of oxidative stress, revealed a tendency to their reduction in the groups treated with insulin, HBO and a combination of insulin and HBO compared to the group with DM [5]. The most significant reduction of oxidative stress biomarkers was recorded in the groups treated with insulin and combination of insulin and HBO. It was found that in rats with type 1 DM the isolated application of HBO leads to a decrease in blood parameters reflecting the level of oxidative stress, from which it can be concluded that this method of treatment has an antioxidant effect.

When studying the dynamics of blood enzymes involved in antioxidant defense: SOD, CAT and GSH, on the contrary, a tendency to their increase was found in the groups treated with insulin, HBO and combination of insulin and HBO compared to the group with DM. The obtained data coincide with the results of scientific studies by other authors [4, 19, 119], in which it was demonstrated how HBO enhances the expression of antioxidant genes in human endothelial cells, protecting the tissue in a hypoxic state from the harmful effects of oxidative stress. In this research work, statistically reliable, significant increase in the considered indicators of antioxidant system was registered in the groups of DM+INS+HBO and DM+HBO, respectively. It was also found that both isolated and combined with insulin exposure to HBO causes an increase in the activity of antioxidant blood enzymes in rats with DM, which reflects its antioxidant effect [5].

Thus, the conducted studies demonstrate the positive effect of hyperbaric oxygenation as an additional component to insulin therapy in the presence of type 1 DM on the change of indicators reflecting the level of the course of reactions that are markers of oxidative stress, and the realization of antioxidant action in experimental animals.

CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSION

Population growth and scientific and technological progress, which contributes to the modification of diagnostic methods, lead to an increase in the incidence and prevalence of DM, which are on the verge of epidemic thresholds. Therefore, DM maintains its primacy among the priority problems of the public health system [7, 120]. The age of patients with DM 18 years and older in the general population as of 2014 was 8.5%. In 2019. 1.5 million deaths were directly related to diabetes. DM was also responsible for 460,000 deaths from kidney disease. Elevated blood glucose levels are the leading cause of 20% of CVD deaths for 2019. [120]. There is no doubt that adequate insulin treatment is essential for glycemic control. Glycemic control is certainly important in a condition such as DM, but it is also important to remember that insulin de facto also contributes to oxidative stress [119].

Hyperbaric oxygen treatment involves exposing the patient to barometric pressure above normal (1 ATM) while breathing 100% O₂. HBO increases the amount of dissolved oxygen in the blood, resulting in relief and elimination of clinical symptoms of conditions such as hypoxia, acute carbon monoxide poisoning, air embolism, and diabetic lower extremity lesions [64]. Even though HBO therapy is performed in the treatment of many nosologies, one should not forget about its potentially adverse effects. Scientists have been discussing for quite a long time about the influence of HBO side effects, realized in the form of strengthening the course of reactions caused by oxidative stress and manifestations of oxygen toxicity [11, 176]. On the one hand, enhancement of ROS production has positive effects: there is an increase in the synthesis of growth factors (vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), placental growth factor (PGF) and angiopoietins 1 and 2) and attraction of stem cells from the bone marrow responsible for neovascularization [11, 78]. On the other hand, the intensification of reactions observed in oxidative stress increases glycemia levels, which contributes to the development and progression of DM complications. And activation of lipid peroxidation in the membranes of muscle cells causes the formation of insulin resistance. It is known that DM provokes activation of processes characterizing

oxidative stress [11, 41], so prolonged exposure to HBO can potentially enhance the occurrence and development of adverse changes in organs and tissues, which leads to the progression and rapid course of the disease and the appearance of its early and late complications [11]. Despite this, to date there are no comprehensive studies that could evaluate the positive and toxic effects of HBO.

The term "ischemia-reperfusion injury" refers to the worsening of cellular damage and dysfunction after restoration of blood flow in previously ischemic tissues. ROS have been identified as primary mediators of this phenomenon. During ischemiareperfusion injury, there is increased migration of microcirculating neutrophils between blood and endothelial cells, which induces tissue necrosis and initiates a feedback loop culminating in greater ROS production and damage [79]. However, preservation of ischemic tissues requires early restoration of blood flow. Simultaneous ischemia and reperfusion in tissues represent a paradoxical process in which reperfusion causes greater tissue damage, which is ROS-dependent. It has been suggested that tissues in a hyperoxic environment provided by HBO after ischemia-reperfusion injury would have increased production of ROS and exacerbated the extent of tissue necrosis. Unexpectedly, it has been shown how HBO leads to increased expression of antioxidant genes in human endothelial cells, which contributes to the activation of protective mechanisms against oxidative damage to ischemic tissues by reducing the production of ROS observed during the ischemia-reperfusion process [5, 170, 171, 174]. As a result, HBO seems to benefit ischemic tissue by reducing the formation of ROS and simultaneously increasing their degradation.

Thus, the aim of this study was to determine the effects of HBO on glucose homeostasis, oxidative stress parameters, and cardiac function in experimentally induced type1 DM and rats receiving and not receiving NPH insulin therapy.

DM is characterized by the development of certain microvascular problems [35]. Although numerous studies have investigated and compared the roles of various components contributing to diabetic vascular problems, the exact assessment and their contribution remains incompletely understood [132]. However, several studies have shown how microvascular outcomes are largely or partially dependent on

hyperglycemia [125]. Hyperglycemia-induced vascular damage involves at least four major pathways: increased polyol (sorbitol) activity causing accumulation of sorbitol and fructose; increased formation of glycation end products; activation of protein kinase C and nuclear factor kB; and increased flux of the hexosamine pathway. There are many reasons to believe that hyperglycemia causes all these harmful metabolic processes through one pathway: the mitochondrial electron transport chain produces too much superoxide. This theory, proposed by Brownlee [41], seems to indicate that oxidative stress induced by hyperglycemia plays an important role in the etiology of diabetic problems. On the one hand, hyperglycemia causes oxidative stress and on the other hand, insulin administration also causes oxidative stress.

In clinical practice, it has been observed that HBO can accelerate wound healing. Since wounds need oxygen for proper tissue regeneration, exposure to 100% oxygen accelerates this process. Applications in this area are quite extensive and include microbial-infected wounds (e.g., clostridial myonecrosis and Fournier's gangrene), traumatic wounds, thermal burns, skin grafts, radiation wounds, diabetic ulcers, and vascular insufficiency ulcers [119, 141].

In the field of diabetes, there is a critical complication called diabetic foot ulcer, an open ulcer on the sole of the foot affecting 15% of patients. HBO is particularly important in this injury because it is involved in many parameters of inflammation and tissue repair. For example, there is some evidence that HBO can improve the rate of wound healing by increasing NO levels and the number of endothelial progenitor cells in non-healing vasculitis, calcifying uremic arteriolopathy, lividoid vasculopathy, and gangrenous pyoderma ulcers [32, 40, 58, 78, 102, 153]. Some studies show marked angiogenesis when inflammation is reduced: angiogenic markers such as epithelial growth factor (EGF) and VEGF become active and are positively associated with an increase in the transcription factor Nrf2 [78, 88, 102, 148, 176]. In addition, anaerobic infections have lower morbidity and amputation rates [153]. Various literatures support the additional use of systemic but not local HBO for wound healing in diabetic foot ulcers [44, 142, 171]. Despite this, the results of many studies cannot be interpreted unambiguously, which makes it important to predict in advance in which group of

patients the maximum benefit of HBO application will be obtained [142]. For example, in patients with diabetic foot ulcers and peripheral arterial occlusive disease, wound healing may not improve [142]. Another recent study showed that the use of HBO may be associated with improved 6-year survival in patients with diabetic foot [142]. Further studies and larger samples are needed to determine the most appropriate candidates for HBO.

In addition, HBO can be an excellent adjuvant treatment for surgical injuries and is crucial because it can provide better results when administered earlier. When wounds fail to heal with conventional treatments, additional help can be found in HBO. Animal models have shown the importance of this procedure in wound healing by accelerating epithelialization and neovascularization [170, 171, 174, 176, 181]. Reported effects on these events are found in the upregulation of host factors such as tumor necrosis factor- $(TNF-\alpha)$, matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9) and tissue inhibitor of α metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1) [176, 181]. In a rabbit model of irradiated NBOT tissue, O₂ was compared to hyperbaric tissue, further demonstrating that O₂ is required at higher pressures to induce angiogenic effects [100]. Numerous in vivo studies have shown that hyperbaric oxygen stress modulates the rate of stem cell proliferation in small intestinal crypts and enhances angiogenesis in the chorio-allantoic membrane [153]. In a clinical study of patients with chronic non-healing wounds (more than 20 months without healing), HBO was standardized for 20 sessions (5 sessions per week). The results were increased levels of vascular endothelial growth factor and interleukin-6 and decreased levels of endothelin-1. These facts include activation of host wound healing factors, angiogenesis, and improved vascular tone [153]. Angiogenesis is enhanced by increasing NO levels during HBO and is associated with a decrease in lesion area [40, 176].

Currently, there are several studies evaluating the improvement of angiogenesis and tissue healing after HBO. However, there are still few studies in this area, and an updated metanalysis and systematic review of the available data will be published soon [162, 177]. Similar findings can be extrapolated to radiation-induced lesions. Thus, osteoradionecrosis is a common and alarming condition in cancer patients after

radiation therapy. This condition often results in jaw lesions and consists of the development of aseptic avascular necrosis, which can lead to infection, tooth loss, and even pathologic fracture of the jaw. In addition, it also often leads to ulceration and necrosis of the mucosa. HBO plays a key role in the treatment of this condition, improving tissue response to surgical wounding and even as a prophylactic approach in patients with prior head and neck irradiation undergoing tooth extraction or complete tooth extraction [103].

In the current study, we show that 2-week treatment with NPH insulin alone or in combination (which is even more pronounced) induces increased production of prooxidant markers in rat coronary venous secretions that were collected after 20 minutes of global ischemia in which blood flow is interrupted followed by 30 minutes of reperfusion. Based on the above, the data from the study by Monnier et al. (2011) do not specifically explain whether high insulin doses can be considered a factor or a reflection of oxidative stress, but it seems more likely that the degree of hyperinsulinization (high insulin doses) is responsible for the pro-oxidant effect. This view is based on the fact that there is a correlation between insulin dose and the rate of urinary excretion of isoprostane [119], which is a stable biomarker of oxidative stress [66].

Although some investigators [170, 171, 174] have shown how, in human endothelial cells, HBO leads to increased expression of antioxidant genes, contributing to the activation of protective mechanisms against oxidative damage to ischemic tissues by decreasing the production of ROS while increasing damage from their degradation, HBO also increases ROS production at the beginning of therapy.

Thus, our results are consistent with the above conclusions, given that rats on NPH insulin therapy and undergoing HBO had significantly higher values of all determined prooxidants compared to all other groups. Regarding compensation in DM, there is a decrease in insulin consumption, restoration of residual insulin secretion and suppression of secretion of anti-insular hormones such as glucagon, somatotropic hormone and hydrocortisone, which are achieved by repeated HBO for a year. For patients with insulin-dependent DM, 3 courses of HBO at 4-month intervals are more

effective than 2 courses at 6-month intervals. However, with the three-course modality, the maximum beneficial effect of HBO on hormonal and metabolic status is achieved only in the second course, and the third course only enhances the already achieved effect [18, 19].

Combined treatment with HBO and NPH insulin has a poor effect on coronary oxidation status but a positive effect on cardiodynamics of the isolated rat heart. SLVP and dp/dt max are two cardiodynamic parameters that describe systolic function, whereas dp/dt min and DLVP parameters refer to diastolic function of the heart. All four mentioned cardiodynamic parameters as well as CF were elevated in the group of rats with combined treatment (DM+INS+HBO), which is consistent with the results of studies [115, 168]. Some authors have shown that HBO causes a slow decrease in HR [115], but this was not observed in our study.

INFERENCES

1. A 2-week course of insulin therapy significantly reduces the level of hyperglycemia in rats with type 1 diabetes. The combination of insulin therapy with sessions of hyperbaric oxygenation causes a similar, but less pronounced effect. The smallest decrease in glucose level is observed with "isolated" therapeutic application of HBO.

2. After 2-week sessions of HBO, insulin therapy, as well as their combined application, oxidative stress characteristic of type 1 diabetes is weakened. The molecular mechanisms of this effect are based on a decrease in the activity of pro-oxidants with simultaneous activation of antioxidant system components.

3. Two-week therapeutic course of HBO reduces the activity of pro-oxidants measured in the coronary venous outflow tract of isolated rat heart under its post-ischemic reperfusion conditions. The similar in expression decrease of oxidative stress markers is observed after a course of insulin therapy.

4. Combination of HBO sessions with insulin therapy causes the greatest reduction of oxidative stress indicators (registered on the isolated heart preparation) in comparison with each of them separately.

5. The best indices of the pumping function of the rat heart under conditions of its postischemic reperfusion were observed after the combination of insulin therapy and HBO courses. The worst parameters were observed in animals that did not receive treatment. Separate application of both HBO and insulin therapy caused intermediate effects.

6. The molecular mechanisms of cardiac pumping function improvement after sessions of HBO, insulin therapy, and their combined effect are based on the attenuation of oxidative stress characteristic of type 1 DM.

ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

- ACE angiotensin-converting enzyme
- ATM absolute atmosphere
- ATP- adenosine triphosphate
- CAT catalase
- CHF chronic heart failure
- CVD cardiovascular disease
- DLVP diastolic left ventricular pressure
- DM diabetes mellitus
- DM1 type 1 diabetes mellitus
- DM2 type 2 diabetes mellitus
- dp/dt max maximum derivative of pressure over time
- dp/dt min minimum derivative of pressure over time
- GLP-1 glucagon-like peptide-1
- GSH reduced glutathione
- HbA1c glycated hemoglobin or glycohemoglobin (A1c)
- HBO hyperbaric oxygenation
- H₂O₂ hydrogen peroxide
- HRPO Horser Radish PerOxidase
- HR heart rate
- INS insulin therapy
- LPI lipid peroxidation index
- MDA malonyl dialdehyde
- NO nitrogen monoxide
- NO₂₋ nitrite
- NPH neutral protamine Hagedorn insulin or isophane insulin
- Nrf-2 is a redox-sensitive transcription factor
- O_{2} superoxide anion radical
- PQTI prolonged QTc interval

 $RAAS-renin-angiotensin-aldosterone\ system$

ROS – reactive oxygen species

SLVP - systolic left ventricular pressure

- SOD superoxide dismutase
- STZ-streptozotocin
- TBARS Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances

REFERENCES

1. Bulgakova, Y.V. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant system of the rat brain during adaptation to hyperoxic load / Y.V. Bulgakova, P.N. Savilov // Pathological Physiology and Experimental Therapy. - 2022. - T. 66. - № 3. - C. 80–90.

2. Bolevich, S.S. Justification of pathogenetic therapy with dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors of heart damage in rats with induced diabetes mellitus type 2 in conditions of hypoperfusion and subsequent myocardial reperfusion/S.S. Bolevich//Autoreferat for a PhD in specialty 14.03.03 - Pathological physiology. - Moscow. - 2020. - 24 C

3. Bolevich, S.S. Justification of pathogenetic therapy with dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors of heart damage in rats with induced diabetes mellitus type 2 in conditions of hypoperfusion and subsequent myocardial reperfusion/S.S. Bolevich// Dissertation for the degree of kmn on specialty 14.03.03 - Pathological physiology. - Moscow. - 2020. - 144 C.

4. Effect of biosynthetic insulin on lipid peroxidation of erythrocyte membranes in patients with type I diabetes / T.S. Balashova, E.N. Golega, I.A. Rudko [et al. Golega, I.A. Rudko [et al] // Problems of Endocrinology. - 1994. - T. 40. - №3. - C. 12-15.

5. Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation in the treatment of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus on oxidative stress parameters / A.Yu. Mikhaleva, S.B. Bolevich, S.I. Vorobyev [et al] // Modern problems of science and education: electronic scientific-practical journal. 2024. No 3. URL: https://science-education.ru/ru/article/view?id=33520. Date of publication: 03.07.2024. Access mode: open.

Effect of insulin on the level of lipid peroxidation and glutathione content during bivascular ischemia of rat forebrain and reperfusion / I.I. Zorina, O.V. Galkina, L.V. Bayunova, I.O. Zakharova // Journal of Evolutionary Biochemistry and Physiology. - 2019. - T. 55. - № 4. - C. 299-301.

7. World Health Organization: website: non-profit Internet version. - URL: https://www.who.int/ru/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/diabetes (accessed 15.05.2024).

8. Guyton, A.K. Medical Physiology/A.K. Guyton, J.E. Hall// Transl. from English; Edited by V.I. Kobrin. - Moscow: Logosphere, 2008. - 1296 p.: illus.:21,1 cm. - ISBN 978-5-98657-013-6.

 Hyperbaric oxygenation in complex therapy of chronic ischemic heart disease / A.S. Smetnev, S.N. Efuni, V.V. Rodionov, L.D. Ashurova, I.S. Aslibekyan. // Cardiology. - 1979. - T. - 19. - №11. - C. 41-46.

10. Hyperbaric oxygenation in the complex treatment of paroxysmal tachyarrhythmias in ischemic heart disease / Y.V. Isakov, A.P. Golikov, U.Z. Ustinova, N.G. Tretyakova // Cardiology. - 1981. - T. 21. - №4. - C. 42-45.

11. Hyperbaric oxygenation as one of the methods of treatment of diabetes mellitus and its complications / A.Yu. Mikhaleva, S.B. Bolevich, E.V. Velichko [et al.] // Modern problems of science and education: electronic scientific-practical journal. 2024. N_{2} 4. URL: https://science-education.ru/ru/article/view?id=33627. Date of publication: 09.09.2024. Access mode: open.

12. Govorushkina, N.S. Effects of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor modulation in the isolated rat heart during ischemia and reperfusion / N.S. Govorushkina // Dissertation for a doctoral degree in specialty 14.03.03 - Pathological physiology. - Moscow. - 2023.
- 169 C.

13. Zhdanov, G.G. Hyperbaric oxygenation, antihypoxant and antioxidant therapy in acute myocardial infarction / G.G. Zhdanov, I.M. Sokolov // General resuscitation. - 2005. - №6. - C. 55-64.

14. Zhdanov, G.G. Tissue hypoxia in acute myocardial infarction and possible ways of its correction / G.G. Zhdanov, I.M. Sokolov // Anesthesiology and Reanimatology. - 2001. - №3. - C. 51-53.

15. Study of the effect of hyperbaric oxygenation on the cardiovascular system and oxidative stress in rats with diabetes mellitus, receiving and not receiving insulin / A.Yu. Mikhaleva, T. Nikolic-Turnic, M. Savic [et al.]//Clinical Pathophysiology. Proceedings of the First Eurasian Congress on Pathophysiology. - 2024. - Vol. 30. - No. 2 (appendix) - P. 79.

16. Kozka, A.A. Antioxidants and hyperbaric oxygenation in the complex treatment of patients with deep burns / A.A. Kozka, O.S. Olifirova // Practical Medicine. - 2015. - №6 (91). - C. 112-114.

Krylov, V.V. Possibilities of hyperbaric oxygenation application at different stages of cardiac surgical care / V.V. Krylov, E.Y. Kolchina // Clinical Practice. Krylov, E.Y. Kolchina // Clinical Practice. - 2022. - №2. - C. 88-97.

18. Optimal frequency of hyperbaric oxygenation in insulin-independent diabetes mellitus/ I.I. Dedov, S.A. Abusuev, Z.Z. Muslimova, A.V. Dreval // Problems of Endocrinology. - 1994. - T. 40. - №2. - C. 28-31.

19. Effectiveness of repeated courses of hyperbaric oxygenation in the treatment of insulin-dependent diabetes / I.I. Dedov, S.A. Abusuev, Z.Z. Muslimova, A.V. Dreval // Problems of Endocrinology. - 1994. - T. 40. - №2. - C. 25-28.

20. Effectiveness of sanatorium rehabilitation of patients with ischemic heart disease after myocardial revascularization on the background of postcovical syndrome / V.A. Kosov, N.P. Trebina, L.M. Drubachevskaya [et al] // Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, Medical Rehabilitation. - 2022. - №2. - C. 111-121.

21. A general overview on the hyperbaric oxygen therapy: applications, mechanisms and translational opportunities/ M.A. Ortega, O. Fraile-Martinez, C. García-Montero, [et al. Fraile-Martinez, C. García-Montero, [et al.]//Medicina (Kaunas). - 2021. - Vol. 57. - P. 864.

22. A systematic review to assess the impact of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on glycaemia in people with diabetes mellitus / S. Baitule, A.H. Patel, N. Murthy, [et al.] // Medicina (Kaunas). - 2021. - Vol. 57. - №10. - P. 1134.

23. Acceleration of age-induced proteolysis in the guinea pig lens nucleus by in vivo exposure to hyperbaric oxygen: A mass spectrometry analysis/F.J. Giblin, D.M.G. Anderson, J. Han, [et al. Giblin, D.M.G. Anderson, J. Han, [et al.]// Experimental Eye Research. - 2021. - Vol. 210. - P. 108697.

24. ACT NOW Study. Prevention of diabetes with pioglitazone in ACT NOW: physiologic correlates / R.A. Defronzo, D. Tripathy, D.C. Schwenke, [et al.] // Diabetes. - 2013. - Vol. 62. - №11. - P. 3920-3926.

25. Acute hyperbaric oxygenation, contrary to intermittent hyperbaric oxygenation, adversely affects vasorelaxation in healthy sprague-dawley rats due to increased oxidative stress/ Z. Mihaljević, A. Matić, A. Stupin, [et al] // Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. Mihaljević, A. Matić, A. Stupin, [et al.]// Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. - 2018. - Vol. 2018. - P.7406027.

26. Acute pulmonary edema secondary to hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ C. Obiagwu,
V. Paul, S. Chadha, [et al. Obiagwu, V. Paul, S. Chadha, [et al.]//Oxford Medical Case
Reports. - 2015. - 2015. - Vol. 2. - P. 183-184.

27. Adjunctive effect of hyperbaric oxygen treatment after thrombolysis on left ventricular function in patients with acute myocardial infarction / M. Dekleva, A. Neskovic, A. Vlahovic, [et al] // American heart journal. Dekleva, A. Neskovic, A. Vlahovic, [et al.] // American heart journal. - 2004. - Vol. 148. - №4. - P. E14.

28. Ahmed, A. Higher New York Heart Association classes and increased mortality and hospitalization in patients with heart failure and preserved left ventricular function / A. Ahmed, W.S. Aronow, J.L. Fleg // American heart journal. - 2006. - Vol. 151. - №2. - P. 444-450.

29. Allen, B.W. Hemoglobin, nitric oxide, and molecular mechanisms of hypoxic vasodilation / B.W. Allen, J.S. Stamler, C.A. Piantadosi // Trends in molecular medicine. Allen, J.S. Stamler, C.A. Piantadosi // Trends in molecular medicine. - 2009.
- Vol. 15. - P. 452-460.

30. American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2018 // Diabetes Care. 2018. - Vol. 41. Suppl 1.
P. S13-S27. DOI: 10.2337/dc18-S002. URL: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/article/41/Supplement_1/S13/30088/2-Classificationand-Diagnosis-of-Diabetes (access date: 15.05.2024). Access mode: open.

31. American Diabetes Association: Standards of Medical Care in diabetes - 2017 // Diabetes Care. - 2017. - Vol. 40. - Is. 1. - P. 1-158. URL: https://diabetesjournals.org/care/issue/40/1 (access date: 15.05.2024). Access mode: open. 32. An overview of protective strategies against ischemia/reperfusion injury: The role of hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning/ C. Hentia, A. Rizzato, E. Camporesi, [et al. Hentia, A. Rizzato, E. Camporesi, [et al.]// Brain and Behavior. - 2018. - Vol. 8(5). - P.959.

33. Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N] nitrate in biological fluids/ L.C. Green,
D.A. Wagner, J. Glogowski, [et al.]// Analytical biochemistry. - 1982. - Vol. 126(1). P.131-138.

34. Analysis of the cardiovascular effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in diabetic patients / K. Canarslan-Demir, K. Ozgok-Kangal, A. Saatci-Yasar, [et al. Canarslan-Demir, K. Ozgok-Kangal, A. Saatci-Yasar, [et al.] // Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2023. - Vol. 50. - Is. 4. - P. 425-431.

35. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study/ I.M. Stratton, A.I. Adler, H.A. Neil, [et al.]// BMJ. - 2000. - Vol.321(7258). - P.405-412.

36. Attenuation of apoptosis and enhancement of proteoglycan synthesis in rabbit cartilage defects by hyperbaric oxygen treatment are related to the suppression of nitric oxide production/ L.J. Yuan. Yuan, S.W. Ueng, S.S. Lin, [et al.]// Journal of Orthoptera Research. - 2004. - Vol.22(5). - P.1126-1134.

37. Bahtiyar, G. Heart Failure: a major cardiovascular complication of diabetes mellitus / G. Bahtiyar, D. Gutterman, H. Lebovitz // Current Diabetes Reports. Bahtiyar, D. Gutterman, H. Lebovitz // Current Diabetes Reports. - 2016. - Vol. 16. - Is. 11. - P. 116.

Bennett, M.H. Emerging indications for hyperbaric oxygen / M.H. Bennett, S.J.
Mitchell // Current Opinion in Anesthesiology. - 2019. - Vol. 32. - Is. 6. - P. 792–798.

Biomarkers of oxidative damage in human disease / I. Dalle-Donne, R. Rossi, R.
Colombo, [et al.] // Clinical chemistry. - 2006. - Vol. 52. - №4. - P. 601-623.

40. Boykin, J.V.Jr. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy mediates increased nitric oxide production associated with wound healing: a preliminary study / J.V. Jr. Boykin, C. Baylis // Advances in skin and wound care. - 2007. - Vol. 20. - №7. - P. 382-388.

41. Brownlee, M. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications // Nature. - 2001. - Vol. 414. - №6865. - P. 813-820.

42. Camporesi, E.M. Mechanisms of action of hyperbaric oxygen therapy / E.M. Camporesi, G. Bosco // Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2014. - Vol. 41. - Is. 3. - P. 247-252.

43. Cardiovascular risk in diabetes mellitus: complication of the disease or of antihyperglycemic medications / C.A. Alvarez, I. Lingvay, V. Vuylsteke, [et al] // Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics. Lingvay, V. Vuylsteke, [et al.] // Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics. - 2015. - Vol. 98. - Is. 2. - P. 145-161.

44. Collagen synthesis, nitric oxide and asymmetric dimethylarginine in diabetic subjects undergoing hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ F. Gurdol, M. Cimsit, Y. Oner-Iyidogan, [et al.]// Physiological Research. - 2010. - Vol. 59(3). - P.423-429.

45. Consensus statement by the American association of clinical endocrinologists and american college of endocrinology on the comprehensive type 2 diabetes management algorithm - 2018 executive summary/ A.J. Garber. Garber, M.J. Abrahamson, J.I. Barzilay, [et al.]// Endocrine Practice. - 2018. - Vol. 24(1). - P.91-120.

46. Correlation between hyperbaric oxygen exposure pressures and oxidative parameters in rat lung, brain, and erythrocytes/ S. Oter, A. Korkmaz, T. Topal, [et al. Oter, A. Korkmaz, T. Topal, [et al.]// Clinical Biochemistry. - 2005. - Vol. 38(8). - P.706-11.

47. Diabetic microvascular complications associated with myocardial repolarization heterogeneity evaluated by Tp-e interval and Tp-e/QTc ratio / H. Erken Pamukcu, S. Hepşen, H.F. Şahan, [et al.] // Journal of diabetes complications. -2020. - Vol. 34. - N 12. - P. 107726.

48. Dietary habits and biochemical parameters evolution in type 1 diabetic patients after health care orientations / F.Z. Bouazza, H. Merzouk, F.Z. Chiali, [et al.] // World Journal of Nutrition and Health. - 2017. - Vol. 5. - №1. P. 6-13. To Auclair

49. Differentiation of diabetes by pathophysiology, natural history, and prognosis/ J.S. Skyler, G.L. Bakris, E. Bonifacio, [et al. Bakris, E. Bonifacio, [et al.]// Diabetes. -2017. - Vol. 66. - P. 241–255. 50. Dose-dependent effects of perfluorocarbon-based blood substitute on cardiac function in myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury/ V. Jakovljevic, S. Vorobyev, A. Mikhaleva, [et al. Jakovljevic, S. Vorobyev, A. Mikhaleva, [et al.]// Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry. - 2022. - Vol. 477(12). - P.2773-2786.

51. Early effects of hyperbaric oxygen on inducible nitric oxide synthase activity/expression in lymphocytes of type 1 diabetes patients: a prospective pilot study/I. Resanovic, Z. Gluvic, B. Zaric, [et al.]// International Journal of Endocrinology. - 2019. - Vol.2019. - P.2328505.

52. Edwards, M.L. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Part 1: history and principles // Journal of veterinary emergency and critical care (San Antonio). - 2010. - Vol. 20. - №3. - P. 284-288.

53. Effect of hyperbaric oxygenation in total antioxidant system, nitric oxide and 3 nitrotyrosine levels in a rat model of acute myocardial infarction in the absence of reperfusion/ N.B.M. Guadalupe, M.D.C. Castillo-Hernandez, A. Kormanovski, [et al.]// International Journal of Pharmacology. - 2015. - Vol. 11. - P.834-839.

54. Effect of metformin monotherapy on serum lipid profile in statin-naïve individuals with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes mellitus: a cohort study/ S.H. Lin. Lin, P.C. Cheng, S.T. Tu, [et al.]// PeerJ. - 2018. - Vol. 6. - P.4578.

55. Effects of exenatide on measures of β -cell function after 3 years in metformintreated patients with type 2 diabetes / M.C. Bunck, A. Cornér, B. Eliasson, [et al.] // Diabetes Care. - 2011. - Vol. 34. - No. - P. 2041-2047.

56. Effects of exposure to hyperbaric oxygen on oxidative stress in rats with type II collagen-induced arthritis/ F. Nagatomo, N. Gu, H. Fujino, [et al. Nagatomo, N. Gu, H. Fujino, [et al.]// Clinical and Experimental Medicine. - 2010. - Vol. 10. - P. 7-13.

57. Effects of hyperbaric exposure with high oxygen concentration on glucose and insulin levels and skeletal muscle-fiber properties in diabetic rats/ K. Yasuda. Yasuda, T. Adachi, N. Gu, [et al.]// Muscle Nerve. - 2007. - Vol.35(3). - P.337-43.

58. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen on nitric oxide generation in humans/ J. Uusijärvi,K. Eriksson, A.C. Larsson, [et al.]// Nitric Oxide. - 2015. - Vol. 44. - P.88-97.

59. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on inflammation, oxidative/antioxidant balance, and muscle damage after acute exercise in normobaric, normoxic and hypobaric, hypoxic environments: a pilot study/ J. Woo, J.H. Min, Y.H. Lee, H.T. Roh// International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. - 2020. - Vol. 17. - P. 7377.

60. Effects of hyperbaric oxygenation on vascular reactivity to angiotensin II and angiotensin-(1-7) in rats/ A. Kibel. Kibel, A. Cavka, A. Cosic [et al.]// Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2012. - Vol.39(6). - P.1053-1066.

61. Efficacy and safety of hyperbaric oxygen therapy in acute ischaemic stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis/X. Li, L. Lu, Y. Min, [et al.]// BMC Neurology. - 2024. - Vol. 24. - P. 55.

62. Ekanayake, L. Effects of hyperbaric oxygen treatment on blood sugar levels and insulin levels in diabetics / L. Ekanayake, D.J. Doolette // South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society Journal. - 2001. - Vol. 31. - P. 16-20.

63. Eldor, R. In vivo actions of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: glycemic control, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion / R. Eldor, R.A. DeFronzo, M. Abdul-Ghani // Diabetes Care // Diabetes Care. Eldor, R.A. DeFronzo, M. Abdul-Ghani // Diabetes Care. - 2013. - Vol. 36. - Suppl 2. - P. 162-174.

64. Enhancement of glucose toxicity by hyperbaric oxygen exposure in diabetic rats/
T. Matsunami, Y. Sato, T. Morishima, [et al.]// Tohoku journal of experimental medicine. - 2008. - Vol.216(2). - P.127-32.

65. Epidemiology of heart failure/ A. Groenewegen, F.H. Rutten, A. Mosterd, A.W. Hoes//European Journal of Heart Failure. - 2020. - Vol. 22. - P. - 1342-1356.

66. Esmaie, E.M. Antidiabetic and antioxidant effects of tannic acid and melatonin on streptozotocin induced diabetes in rats / E.M. Esmaie, A.M. Abo-Youssef, M.A. Tohamy // Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences. - 2019. - Vol. 32. - №4. - P. 1453-1459.

67. Essentials of Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy: 2019 Review/ J.P. Kirby, J. Snyder,D.J.E. Schuerer, [et al.]// Missouri Medicine. - 2019. - Vol. 116. - P. 176–179.

68. European cardiovascular disease statistics 2017/ E. Wilkins, L. Wilson, K. Wickramasinghe, [et al.]// European Heart Network: Brussels, Belgium, 2017. http://www.ehnheart.org/images/CVD-statistics-report-August-2017.pdf. (date of reference: 15.05.2024). Access mode: open.

69. Evaluating oxidative stress in human cardiovascular disease: methodological aspects and considerations/ R. Lee, M. Margaritis, K.M. Channon, C. Antoniades// Current Medicinal Chemistry. Lee, M. Margaritis, K.M. Channon, C. Antoniades// Current Medicinal Chemistry. - 2012. - Vol. 19(16). - P. 2504-20.

70. Examining the effects of hbot on the cardiovascular system and oxidative stress in insulin-treated and non-treated diabetic rats / A.Y. Mikhaleva, T. Nikolic Turnic, M. Savic, [et al. Mikhaleva, T. Nikolic Turnic, M. Savic, [et al.]// 9TH International congress of pathophysiology 5th congress of physiological sciences of Serbia with international participation. - 2023 - P. 149.

71. Examining the effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on the cardiovascular system and oxidative stress in insulin-treated and non-treated diabetic rats/ P. Ristic, M. Savic, S. Bolevich, A. Mikhaleva, [et al.]// Animals. - 2023. - Vol.13. - P.2847.

72. Exogenous ketone salts inhibit superoxide production in the rat caudal solitary complex during exposure to normobaric and hyperbaric hyperoxia/ C.M. Hinojo, G.E. Ciarlone, D.P. D'Agostino, J.B. Dean// Journal of Applied Physiology (1985). - 2021. - Vol. 130. - P. - 1936-1954.

73. Exposure to mild hyperbaric oxygen increases blood flow and resting energy expenditure but not oxidative stress/ A. Ishihara, N. Fumiko, F. Hidemi, K. Hiroyo// Journal of Scientific Research and Reports. Ishihara, N. Fumiko, F. Hidemi, K. Hiroyo// Journal of Scientific Research and Reports. - 2014. - Vol.3 (14). - P.1886-1896.

74. Fagher, K. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy reduces the risk of QTc interval prolongation in patients with diabetes and hard-to-heal foot ulcers / K. Fagher. Fagher,
P. Katzman, M. Löndahl // Journal of diabetes complications. - 2015. - Vol. 29. - №8. P. 1198-1202.

75. Fagher, K. The impact of metabolic control and QTc prolongation on all-cause mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes and foot ulcers / K. Fagher, M. Löndahl

Diabetologia. Fagher, M. Löndahl Diabetologia. - 2013. - Vol. 56. - №5. - P. 1140-1147.

76. Fife, C.E. An update on the appropriate role for hyperbaric oxygen: indications and evidence/ C.E. Fife, K.A. Eckert, M.J. Carter/Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. Carter//Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. - 2016. - Vol. 138. - 3 Suppl. - P. 107-116.

77. Folz, R.J. Extracellular superoxide dismutase in the airways of transgenic mice reduces inflammation and attenuates lung toxicity following hyperoxia/ R.J. Folz, A.M. Abushamaa, H.B. Suliman// Journal of Clinical Investigation. - 1999. - Vol. 103(7). - P. 1055-66.

78. Fosen, K.M. Hyperbaric oxygen, vasculogenic stem cells, and wound healing/ K.M. Fosen, S.R. Thom/Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. Thom//Antioxidants and Redox Signaling. - 2014. - Vol. 21(11). - P. 1634-47.

79. Francis, A. Ischaemia-reperfusion injury and hyperbaric oxygen pathways: a review of cellular mechanisms/ A. Francis, R. Baynosa// Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Journal. Francis, R. Baynosa// Diving and Hyperbaric Medicine Journal. - 2017. - Vol. 47(2). - P. 110-117.

80. Gawdi, R. Hyperbaric Contraindications/ R. Gawdi, J.S. Cooper // In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. -2024. [Electronic resource].
URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK557661/ (date of reference: 15.05.2024).

 Gesell, L.B. De novo cataract development following a standard course of hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ L.B. Gesell, A. Trott // Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine.
 Gesell, A. Trott // Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2007. - Vol. 34(6). - P.389-392.
 Gill, A.L. Hyperbaric oxygen: its uses, mechanisms of action and outcomes/ A.L.
 Gill, C.N. Bell// QJM: An International Journal of Medicine. - 2004. - Vol. 97(7). - P. 385-95.

83. Global Burden of Disease Collaborative Network. Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. Results. Institute for ealth Metrics and Evaluation. - 2020 (https://vizhub.healthdata.org/gbd-results) (accessed 15.05.2024). Access mode: open.

84. Gore, M.O. Drugs for type 2 diabetes mellitus: the imperative for cardiovascular outcome assessment/ M.O. Gore, D.K. McGuire// Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research. - 2012. - Vol. 9. - P. 85-88.

85. Griendling, K.K. Oxidative stress and cardiovascular injury: Part I: basic mechanisms and in vivo monitoring of ROS/ K.K. Griendling, G.A. FitzGerald// Circulation. Griendling, G.A. FitzGerald// Circulation. - 2003. - Vol. 108(16). - P.1912-1916.

86. Gupta, M. History and development of hyperbaric medicine/ M. Gupta, I. Somasundaram// In: Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy: Principles and Applications. Gupta, I. Somasundaram// In: Hyperbaric Oxygen Therapy: Principles and Applications. Springer, Singapore. - 2024. - P. 290.

87. Guthrie, R.A. Pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus/ R.A. Guthrie, D.W. Guthrie//
Critical Care Nursing Quarterly. - 2004. - Vol.27(2). - P.113-125.

88. Harch, P.G. Acute and chronic central nervous system oxidative stress/toxicity during hyperbaric oxygen treatment of subacute and chronic neurological conditions/
P.G. Harch, S. Rhodes // Frontiers in Neurology. - 2024. - Vol. 15. - P.1341562.

89. Hasheminasabgorji, E. Dyslipidemia, diabetes and atherosclerosis: role of inflammation and ROS-redox-sensitive factors/E. Hasheminasabgorji, J.C. Jha// Biomedicines. - 2021. - Vol. 9. - P. 1602.

90. Hausenloy, D.J. Myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury: a neglected therapeutic target/ D.J. Hausenloy, D.M. Yellon// The Journal of Clinical Investigation. Hausenloy, D.M. Yellon// The Journal of Clinical Investigation. - 2013. - Vol. 123. - P. 92-100.

91. Heart rate-corrected QT interval is an independent predictor of all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in individuals with type 2 diabetes: the Diabetes Heart Study / A.J. Cox, A. Azeem, J. Yeboah, [et al. Cox, A. Azeem, J. Yeboah, [et al.] // Diabetes Care. - 2014. - Vol. 37. - №5. - P. 1454-1461.

92. Hotamisligil, G.S. Inflammation and metabolic disorders/ G.S. Hotamisligil// Nature. - 2006. - Vol. 444(7121). - P.860-7.

93. Hyperbaric oxygen ameliorates insulin sensitivity by increasing GLUT4 expression in skeletal muscle and stimulating UCP1 in brown adipose tissue in T2DM

mice/ Y. Liu. Liu, D. Zhang, J. Yuan, [et al.]// Frontiers in endocrinology (Lausanne). - 2020. - Vol. 11. - P.32.

94. Hyperbaric oxygen and thrombolysis in myocardial infarction: the 'HOT MI' randomized multicenter study/ Y. Stavitsky, A.H. Shandling, M.H. Ellestad, [et al.]// Cardiology. - 1998. - Vol. 90(2). - P.131-6.

95. Hyperbaric oxygen as a model of lens aging in the bovine lens: The effects on lens biochemistry, physiology and optics/ J.C. Lim, A.C. Grey, E. Vaghefi, [et al.]// Experimental Eye Research. - 2021. - Vol. 212. - P.108790.

96. Hyperbaric oxygen induces late neuroplasticity in post stroke patients-randomized, prospective trial / S. Efrati, G. Fishlev, Y. Bechor, [et al.] // PLoS One. -2013. - Vol. 8. - Is. 1. - P. e53716.

97. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning improves myocardial function, reduces length of intensive care stay, and limits complications post coronary artery bypass graft surgery/J.Z. Yogaratnam, G. Laden, L. Guvendik, [et al] // Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine. Yogaratnam, G. Laden, L. Guvendik, [et al.]// Cardiovascular Revascularization Medicine. - 2010. - Vol. 11(1). - P.8-19.

98. Hyperbaric oxygen preconditioning provides preliminary protection against doxorubicin cardiotoxicity/O. Tezcan, O. Karahan, M. Alan, [et al.]// Acta Cardiologica Sinica. - 2017. - Vol. 33(2). - P.150-155.

99. Hyperbaric oxygen protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury through inhibiting mitochondria dysfunction and autophagy / W. Chen, L. Lv, Z. Nong, [et al.] // Molecular medicine reports. - 2020. - Vol. 22. - №5. - P. 4254-4264.

100. Hyperbaric oxygen reduces the progression and accelerates the regression of atherosclerosis in rabbits/ B.J. Kudchodkar. Kudchodkar, J. Wilson, A. Lacko, L. Dory// Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology. - 2000. - Vol. 20(6). - P.1637-1643.

101. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy decreases QT dispersion in diabetic patients/ E. Kardesoglu, M. Aparci, G. Uzun, [et al. Kardesoglu, M. Aparci, G. Uzun, [et al.]// Tohoku journal of experimental medicine. - 2008. - Vol. 215(1). - P.113-117.

102. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for healthy aging: From mechanisms to therapeutics/Q. Fu, R. Duan, Y. Sun, Q. Li// Redox Biology. - 2022. - Vol. 53. - P. 102352.

103. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy for nonhealing wounds-a long-term retrospective cohort study/ R.C. Lalieu, R.D. Bol Raap, C. Smit, [et al.]// Advances in Skin and Wound Care. - 2023. - Vol. 36(6). - P.304-310.

104. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves myocardial diastolic function in diabetic patients / M. Aparci, E. Kardesoglu, S. Suleymanoglu, [et al. Aparci, E. Kardesoglu, S. Suleymanoglu, [et al.] // Tohoku journal of experimental medicine. -2008. -Vol. 214. - №3. -P. 281-289.

105. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves neurocognitive functions of post-stroke patients - a retrospective analysis/ A. Hadanny, M. Rittblat, M. Bitterman, [et al. Hadanny, M. Rittblat, M. Bitterman, [et al.]//Restorative Neurology and Neuroscience. - 2020. - Vol. 38. - P. 93-107.

106. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy in ophthalmology: A Narrative Review/ Z. Micun.
Micun, W. Dobrzyńska, M. Sieśkiewicz, [et al.]// Journal of Clinical Medicine. - 2023. Vol. 13. - P. 29.

107. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy increases free radical levels in the blood of humans/
C.K. Narkowicz, J.H. Vial, P.W. McCartney// Free Radical Research Communications.
- 1993. - Vol. 19(2). - P.71-80.

108. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy: side effects defined and quantified/ M. Heyboer 3rd,
D. Sharma, W. Santiago, N. McCulloch// Advances in Wound Care (New Rochelle). 2017. - Vol. 6. - P. 210-224.

109. Hyperbaric oxygenation affects acetylcholine-induced relaxation in female diabetic rats/ D. Manojlovic, A. Stupin, Z. Mihaljevic, [et al.]// Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2019. - Vol. 46(5). - P.635-646.

110. Hyperbaric oxygenation and 20-hydroxyeicosatetreanoic acid inhibition reduce stroke volume in female diabetic Sprague-Dawley rats/ M. Mišir, M. Renić, S. Novak, [et al.]// Experimental Physiology. - 2017. - Vol. 102. - P. 1596–1606.

111. Hyperbaric oxygenation applied immediately after coronary occlusion reduces myocardial necrosis and acute mortality in rats / L. dos Santos, A.J. Serra. Serra, E.L.

Antônio, [et al.] // Clinical and experimental pharmacology and physiology. - 2009. - Vol. 36. - №5-6. - P. 594-598.

112. Hyperbaric oxygenation improves redox control and reduces mortality in the acute phase of myocardial infarction in a rat model/ M.S. Oliveira, L.Y. Tanaka. Tanaka, E.L. Antonio, [et al.]// Molecular Medicine Reports. - 2020. - Vol. 21(3). - P.1431-1438.

113. Hyperbaric oxygenation modulates vascular reactivity to angiotensin-(1-7) in diabetic rats: potential role of epoxyeicosatrienoic acids/ A. Kibel, S. Novak, A. Cosic, [et al] // Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research. Kibel, S. Novak, A. Cosic, [et al.]// Diabetes and Vascular Disease Research. - 2015. - Vol. 12(1). - P.33-45.

114. Hyperbaric physics/ M.W. Jones, K. Brett, N. Han, [et al.]// In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing. - 2024 [Electronic resource]. URL: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK448104/ (accessed 15.05.2024).

115. Hyperoxia and the cardiovascular system: experiences with hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ J.D. Schipke, T. Muth, C. Pepper, [et al.]// Medical Gas Research. - 2022. - Vol. 12(4). - P.153-157.

116. Impact of hyperbaric oxygenation on oxidative stress in diabetic patients/ S. Tepić, A. Petković, I. Srejović, [et al.]// Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2018. - Vol. 45(1). - P.9-17.

117. Individual and diabetes presentation characteristics associated with partial remission status in children and adults evaluated up to 12 months following diagnosis of type 1 diabetes: An ADDRESS-2 (After Diagnosis Diabetes Research Support System-2) study analysis. Humphreys, V. Bravis, A. Kaur, [et al.]// Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice. - 2019. - Vol. 155. - P. 107789.

118. Influences of hyperbaric oxygen on blood pressure, heart rate and blood glucose levels in patients with diabetes mellitus and hypertension / N.S. Al-Waili, G.J. Butler, J. Beale, [et al. Butler, J. Beale, [et al.] // Archives of medical research. - 2006. - Vol. - 37.
- №8. - P. 991-997.

119. Insulin therapy has a complex relationship with measure of oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes: a case for further study/ L. Monnier, C. Colette, F. Michel, [et al.

Monnier, C. Colette, F. Michel, [et al.]// Diabetes-Metabolism Research and Reviews. - 2011. - Vol. 27(4). - P. 348-53.

120. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 10th edn. Brussels, Belgium: 2021. [Electronic resource]. URL: https://www.diabetesatlas.org (date of reference: 15.05.2024).

121. Jain, K.K. The history of hyperbaric medicine. In: Textbook of hyperbaric medicine/ K.K. Jain// Cham: Springer. - 2017. - P. 3-9.

122. Jain, K.K. The History of hyperbaric medicine/K.K. Jain// Textbook of Hyperbaric Medicine, 4th ed. Jain// Textbook of Hyperbaric Medicine, 4th ed. Kirkland, WA: Hogrefe and Huber Publishers. - 2004. - P.3-8.

123. Kahraman, C. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy affects insulin sensitivity/resistance by increasing adiponectin, resistin, and plasminogen activator inhibitor-I in rats/ C. Kahraman, H. Yaman//Turkish Journal of Medical Sciences. Kahraman, H. Yaman//Turkish Journal of Medical sciences. - 2021. - Vol. 51(3). - P.1572-1578.

124. Kibel, A. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment increases serum angiotensin-converting enzyme activity levels in healthy but not in diabetic rats/ A. Kibel, V. Seric, I. Drenjavcevic// Journal of Hypertension. - 2016. - Vol. 34. - P.326-327.

125. Klein, R. Hyperglycemia and microvascular and macrovascular disease in diabetes/ R. Klein // Diabetes Care. Klein // Diabetes Care. - 1995. - Vol. 18(2). - P.258-68.

126. Lehrke, M. Diabetes mellitus and heart failure/ M. Lehrke, N. Marx// The American Journal of Medicine. - 2017. - Vol. 130. - P. 40-50.

127. Life without blood / I. Boerema, N.G. Meyne, W.K. Brummelkamp, [et al. Brummelkamp, [et al.] // Journal of cardiovascular surgery. - 1960. - Vol. 1. - P. 133-146.

128. Maier, C.M. Role of superoxide dismutases in oxidative damage and neurodegenerative disorders/ C.M. Maier, P.H. Chan//Neuroscientist. - 2002. - Vol.8(4).
- P.323-34.

129. Metformin and insulin suppress hepatic gluconeogenesis through phosphorylation of CREB binding protein/ L. He, A. Sabet, S. Djedjos, [et al.]// Cell. - 2009. - Vol. 137(4). - P.635-646.

130. Mitochondrial redox signaling and oxidative stress in kidney diseases/ Aranda-A.K. Rivera, A. Cruz-Gregorio, O.E. Aparicio-Trejo, [et al.] // Biomolecules. -2021. - Vol.11. - Is. 8. - P. 1144.

131. Mosterd, A. Clinical epidemiology of heart failure/ A. Mosterd, A.W. Hoes// Heart. - 2007. - Vol.93(9). - P.1137-46.

132. Multifactorial intervention and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 2 diabetes/ P. Gaede, P. Vedel, N. Larsen, [et al. Larsen, [et al.]// New England Journal of Medicine. - 2003. - Vol. 348(5). - P. 383-93.

133. Muscle oxygen supply and use in type 1 diabetes, from ambient air to the mitochondrial respiratory chain: is there a limiting step? Heyman, F. Daussin, V. Wieczorek, [et al.]//Diabetes Care. - 2020. - Vol. 43(1). - P.209-218.

134. Ohkawa, H. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction/ H. Ohkawa, N. Ohishi, K. Yagi// Analytical biochemistry. - 1979. - Vol.95. - P.351-358.

135. Overview of epidemiology and contribution of obesity and body fat distribution to cardiovascular disease: an update/ M.E. Piché, P. Poirier. Piché, P. Poirier, I. Lemieux, J.P. Després// Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases. - 2018. - Vol. 61. - P. 103-113.

136. Oxidative stress levels in rats following exposure to oxygen at 3 atm for 0-120 min/ S. Oter, T. Topal, [et al. Oter, T. Topal, S. Sadir, [et al.]// Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine. - 2007. - Vol.78(12). - P.1108-1113.

137. Oxygen concentration-dependent oxidative stress levels in rats/F. Nagatomo, H.
Fujino, H. Kondo, A. Ishihara// Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity. - 2012. Vol. 2012. - P. 381763.

138. Palmquist, B.M. Nuclear cataract and myopia during hyperbaric oxygen therapy/
B.M. Palmquist, B. Philipson, P.O. Barr// British Journal of Ophthalmology. Barr//
British Journal of Ophthalmology. - 1984. - Vol.68(2). - P.113-117.

139. Pathak, R. Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors in the management of diabetes/ R. Pathak, M.B. Bridgeman// P and T. - 2010. - Vol.35(9). - P.509-513.

140. Petrie, J.R. Diabetes, hypertension, and cardiovascular disease: clinical insights and vascular mechanisms/ J.R. Petrie, T.J. Petrie, T.J. Guzik, R.M. Touyz// Canadian Journal of Cardiology. - 2018. - Vol. 34. - P. 575-584.

141. Pick, E. A simple colorimetric method for the measurement of hydrogen peroxide produced by cells in culture/ E. Pick, Y. Keisari// Journal of Immunological Methods. - 1980. - Vol.38(1-2). - P.161-70.

142. Potential benefits of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on atherosclerosis and glycaemic control in patients with diabetic foot/ N. Karadurmus, M. Sahin, C. Tasci, [et al. Karadurmus, M. Sahin, C. Tasci, [et al.]// Endokrynologia Polska. - 2010. - Vol.61(3). - P.275-279.

143. Prevalence of diastolic dysfunction in normotensive, asymptomatic patients with well-controlled type 2 diabetes mellitus/ M. Zabalgoitia, M.F. Ismaeil, L. Anderson, F.A. Maklady // American Journal of Cardiology. - 2001. - Vol. 87(3). - P.320-323.

144. Prolonged QTc interval and risks of total and cardiovascular mortality and sudden death in the general population: a review and qualitative overview of the prospective cohort studies/ A. Montanez. Montanez, J.N. Ruskin, P.R. Hebert, [et al.]// Archives of Internal Medicine. - 2004. - Vol.164(9). - P.943-948.

145. Protective effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy (HBO2) in cardiac care - A proposal to conduct a study into the effects of hyperbaric pre-conditioning in elective coronary artery bypass graft surgery (CABG) / M.W. Allen, E. Golembe, S. Gorenstein, [et al. Allen, E. Golembe, S. Gorenstein, [et al.] // Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2015. - Vol. 42. - Is. 2. - P. 107-114.

146. Protocol of insulin therapy for streptozotocin-diabetic rats based on a study of food ingestion and glycemic variation/ L.S. Pinheiro, A.D. de Melo, A.E. Andreazzi [et al. Andreazzi [et al.]// Scandinavian Journal of Laboratory Animal Science. - 2011. - Vol.38(2). - P.117.

147. Pulmonary edema induced by hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ P. Leelasinjaroen, N. Saad, W. Manatsathit [et al. Saad, W. Manatsathit [et al.]// Chest. - 2014. - Vol. 146. - P. 456.

148. Reactive oxygen species, toxicity, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: chronic diseases and aging/ K. Jomova. Jomova, R. Raptova, S.Y. Alomar, [et al.]//Archives of Toxicology. - 2023. - Vol. 97(10). - P.2499-2574.

149. Reduction of side effects of hyperbaric oxygen therapy with thymoquinone treatment in rats/ A.E. Gunes. Gunes, O. Gozeneli, A.A. Akal, [et al.]// Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2017. - Vol. 44. - P. 337-343.

150. Relation of systemic blood pressure, left ventricular mass, insulin sensitivity, and coronary artery disease to QT interval duration in nondiabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects / A. Festa, R. Jr. Festa, R.Jr. D'Agostino, P. Rautaharju, [et al.] // American journal of cardiology. - 2000. - Vol. 15. - Is. 86. - №10. - P. 1117-1122.

151. Risk factors for QTc-prolongation: systematic review of the evidence/ E.
Vandael, B. Vandenberk, J. Vandenberghe, [et al. Vandael, B. Vandenberk, J.
Vandenberghe, [et al.]// International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy. - 2017. - Vol. 39(1).
- P.16-25.

152. Rivalland, G. Pulmonary barotrauma and cerebral arterial gas embolism during hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ G. Rivalland, S.J. Mitchell, J.M. van Schalkwyk/Aviation Space and Environmental Medicine. - 2010. - Vol. 81. - P. 888-890.

153. Roeckl-Wiedmann, I. Systematic review of hyperbaric oxygen in the management of chronic wounds/ I. Roeckl-Wiedmann, M. Bennett, P. Kranke// Br J Surg. - 2005. - Vol. 92(1). - P.24-32.

154. Rogatsky, G.G. Hyperbaric oxygenation for resuscitation and therapy of elderly patients with cerebral and cardio-respiratory dysfunction/ G.G. Rogatsky, I. Stambler// Frontiers in bioscience (Scholar edition. Stambler// Frontiers in bioscience (Scholar edition). - 2017. - Vol. 9(2). - P.230-243.

155. Rojas, L.B. Metformin: an old but still the best treatment for type 2 diabetes/ L.B.Rojas, M.B. Gomes// Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome. - 2013. - Vol. 5(1). - P.6.

156. Role of echocardiography in diabetic cardiomyopathy: from mechanisms to clinical practice/ H. Urlic, M. Kumric, J. Vrdoljak, [et al.]// Journal of Cardiovascular Development and Disease. - 2023. - Vol. 10(2). - P.46.

157. ROS-triggered endothelial cell death mechanisms: Focus on pyroptosis, parthanatos, and ferroptosis/ D. Zheng, J. Liu, H. Piao, [et al. Zheng, J. Liu, H. Piao, [et al.]// Frontiers in Immunology. - 2022. - Vol. 13. - P. 1039241.

158. Saltiel, A.R. Inflammatory mechanisms linking obesity and metabolic disease/ A.R. Saltiel, J.M. Olefsky// Journal of Clinical Investigation. Saltiel, J.M. Olefsky// Journal of Clinical Investigation. - 2017. - Vol. 127(1). - P.1-4.

159. Scheen, A.J. L'etude clinique du mois. L'étude ADOPT: quel antidiabétique oral initier chez le patient diabétique de type 2? [ADOPT study: which first-line glucose-lowering oral medication in type 2 diabetes?]/ A.J. Scheen// Revue medicale de la Scheen// Revue medicale de l'étude clinique de mois. Scheen// Revue medicale de Liege. - 2007. - Vol.62(1):48-52.

160. Schottlender, N. Hyperbaric oxygen treatment: effects on mitochondrial function and oxidative stress/ N. Schottlender, I. Gottfried, U. Ashery// Biomolecules. - 2021. - Vol. 11. - P. 1827.

161. Seizures during hyperbaric oxygen therapy: retrospective analysis of 62,614 treatment sessions/ A. Hadanny, O. Meir, Y. Bechor, [et al.]// Undersea and Hyperbaric Medicine. - 2016. - Vol. 43. -P. 21–28.

162. Sethuraman, K.N. Is there a place for hyperbaric oxygen therapy? / K.N. Sethuraman, R. Smolin, S. Henry // Advances in Surgery. Sethuraman, R. Smolin, S. Henry // Advances in Surgery. - 2022. - Vol. 56. - P. 169-204.

163. Singh, A.K. Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors: Novel mechanism of actions/ A.K. Singh // Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism. Singh // Indian Journal of Endocrinology and Metabolism. - 2014. - Vol. 18(6). - P.753-9.

164. Slater, T. Assessment of breathlessness: A critical dimension of identifying cardiovascular disease/ T. Slater, M. Abshire, P. Davidson// Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal. Slater, M. Abshire, P. Davidson// Australian Nursing and Midwifery Journal. - 2018. - Vol. 25. - P. 36-39.

165. Stonehouse, A.H. Incretin-based therapies/ A.H. Stonehouse, T. Darsow, D.G. Maggs // Journal of Diabetes. Stonehouse, T. Darsow, D.G. Maggs // Journal of Diabetes. - 2012. - Vol. 4(1). - P.55-67.

166. Sulfonylureas and their use in clinical practice/ D. Sola, L. Rossi, G.P. Schianca,
[et al. Sola, L. Rossi, G.P. Schianca, [et al.]// Archives of Medical Science. - 2015. Vol. 11(4). - P.840-8.

167. Svane, J. Diabetes and the risk of sudden cardiac death/ J. Svane, U. Pedersen-Bjergaard, J. Tfelt-Hansen// Current Cardiology Reports. - 2020. - Vol. 22(10). - P.112.
168. Takemura, A. Exposure to a mild hyperbaric oxygen environment elevates blood

pressure/ A. Takemura // Journal of Physical Therapy Science. - 2022. - Vol. 34(5). - P.360-364.

169. Temporal trends in the incidence of and mortality associated with heart failure with preserved and reduced ejection fraction/ C.W. Tsao, A. Lyass, D. Enserro, [et al. Tsao, A. Lyass, D. Enserro, [et al.]// JACC: Heart Failure. - 2018. - Vol. 6. - P. 678-685. 170. The effect of acute hyperbaric oxygen therapy on axial pattern skin flap survival when administered during and after total ischemia/ W.A. Zamboni, A.C. Roth, R.C. Russell, [et al.]// Journal of Reconstructive Microsurgery. - 1989. - Vol. 5(4). - P.343-347.

171. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen on reperfusion of ischemic axial skin flaps: a laser Doppler analysis/ W.A. Zamboni, A.C. Roth, R.C. Russell, E.C. Smoot// Annals of Plastic Surgery. - 1992. - Vol. 28(4). - P.339-341.

172. The effect of hyperbaric oxygen therapy on myocardial perfusion after the implantation of drug-eluting stents/ Y. Li, Y. Hao, T. Wang, [et al.]// Annals of Clinical Laboratory Science. - 2018. - Vol. 48(2). - P.158-163.

173. The effect of hyperbaric oxygenation therapy on myocardial function/ M. Leitman, S. Efrati, S. Fuchs, [et al.]// International Journal of Cardiovascular Imaging. - 2020. - Vol.36(5). - P.833-840.

174. The effects of hyperbaric oxygen on free flaps in rats/ C.M. Kaelin, M.J. Kaelin,
R.A. Myers, [et al. Im, R.A. Myers, [et al.]// Archives of Surgery. - 1990. - Vol.125(5).
- P.607-609.

175. The effects of hyperbaric oxygen on the crystallins of cultured rabbit lenses: a possible catalytic role for copper/ V.A. Padgaonkar, V.R. Leverenz. Leverenz, K.E. Fowler, [et al.]// Experimental Eye Research. - 2000. - Vol.71(4). - P.371-383.

176. The effects of hyperbaric oxygenation on oxidative stress, inflammation and angiogenesis / S.D. De Wolde, R.H. Hulskes, R.P. Weenink, [et al. Hulskes, R.P. Weenink, [et al.] // Biomolecules. - 2021. - Vol. 11. - №8. - P. 1210.

177. The role of hyperbaric oxygen treatment for COVID-19: A review/ M. Paganini,
G. Bosco, F.A.G. Perozzo, [et al. Paganini, G. Bosco, F.A.G. Perozzo, [et al.]//
Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. - 2021. - Vol. 1289. - P. 27-35.

178. Therapeutic, hemodynamic, and metabolic effects of hyperbaric oxygenation in peripheral vascular disease/ A. Visonà, L. Lusiani, F. Rusca, [et al. Visonà, L. Lusiani, F. Rusca, [et al.]// Angiology. - 1989. - Vol. 40(11). - P.994-1000.

179. Thiazolidinediones improve beta-cell function in type 2 diabetic patients/ A. Gastaldelli, E. Ferrannini, Y. Miyazaki, [et al.] //American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism. - 2007. - Vol. 292(3). - P.871-883.

180. Thom S.R. Hyperbaric oxygen: its mechanisms and efficacy/ S.R. Thom // Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. Thom// Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery. - 2011. - Vol. 127. - Suppl. 1. - P. 131–141.

181. Thom, S.R. Microparticle-induced vascular injury in mice following decompression is inhibited by hyperbaric oxygen: effects on microparticles and interleukin-1 β / S.R. Thom, V.M. Bhopale, M. Yang// Journal of Applied Physiology (1985). Thom, V.M. Bhopale, M. Yang// Journal of Applied Physiology (1985). - 2019. - Vol. 126. - P. 1006-1014.

182. Type 1 diabetes defined by severe insulin deficiency occurs after 30 years of age and is commonly treated as type 2 diabetes/ N.J. Thomas. Thomas, A.L. Lynam, A.V. Hill, [et al.]//Diabetologia. - 2019. - Vol. 62. - P.1167-1172.

183. Vrabec, J.T. Short-term tympanostomy in conjunction with hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ J.T. Vrabec, K.S. Clements, J.T. Mader// Laryngoscope. - 1998. - Vol. 108(8 Pt 1). - P.1124-1128.

184. Weaver, L.K. Pulmonary edema associated with hyperbaric oxygen therapy/ L.K.Weaver, S. Churchill// Chest. - 2001. - Vol. 120(4). - P.1407-1409.

185. Wilkinson, D. Hyperbaric oxygen therapy improves peripheral insulin sensitivity in humans/ D. Wilkinson, I.M. Chapman, L.K. Heilbronn// Diabetic Medicine. - 2012. - Vol. 29(8). - P.986-989.

186. Živković, M. Historical development of hyperbaric medicine and physiological basis of its application/ M. Živković, Ž. Kanjuh, P. Bakočević// In: Živković M, editor. Hyperbaric and underwater medicine. Beograd: HBO center. - 1998. - P.103-113.